
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

• 

• 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

• 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 

 

• 
 

 



 

• 
 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 



 

 



 



 

 



 



         

















         

• 

• 

• 





 

 

 



3 

 

 



4 

 

 



4 

 

 



5 

 

 



6 

 

 



7 

 

 



8 

 

 



9 

 

 



10 

 

 



11 

 

 



12 

 

 



13 

 

 



14 

 

 



15 

 

 



17 

 

 

 



18 

 

 

 



19 

 

 

Schedule “A” DIRECTIVES 
 

 

SOLID WASTE-RESOURCE MANAGEMENT BY-LAW DIRECTIVES 

Pursuant to the 
Solid Waste-Resource Management By-law 

 
Enabled by section 2.4 of the By-law 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved by Council: 
 

Solid Waste-Resource Management 
By-law Directives 

 
 

Enabled by 
Solid Waste-Resource Management By-law



20 

 

 

Introduction 
 
The Solid Waste-Resource Management By-law (By-law) authorizes the Authority to apply and 

enforce Directives for the effective and efficient management of Solid Waste within the jurisdictions of 

the municipal unit parties to the Valley Region Solid Waste-Resource Management Intermunicipal 

Services Agreement or IMSA (i.e. the Municipality of the County of Kings, and the Towns of Annapolis 

Royal, Berwick, Kentville, Middleton, and Wolfville (collectively, the parties), or any  other municipality 

who enters the IMSA to contract or designate the Authority to enforce their Solid Waste By-law and 

Directives. 

 
These Directives are a Schedule to the By-law, forming part of the By-law that is in force and effect. 

Section 2.4 of the By-law reads as follows: 

2.4 Directives to supplement and assist with the administration and enforcement of this By-law 
may be adopted and included as a Schedule hereto, and shall form part of this By-law and 
shall be subject to the penalty provisions herein. 

 

 
 

The Directives in this Schedule have been recommended by the Authority pursuant to section 3.4 of 

the By-law and adopted by the Municipality and may be amended from time to time. 

 
1.0    Banned Materials 

 
Materials Banned from Disposal 
Section 4.4 Solid Waste Resource Management By-law names two classes of materials that are 
banned from disposal in landfill: 1.1 materials banned by Provincial Regulation; and 1.2 materials 
banned by the Authority. Banned items may be managed as Recyclables, Compostable Organics, 
Household Hazardous Waste, Hazardous Waste, tires, electronics, or by other means appropriate to 
the material. Disposal bans are in effect at Authority facilities for the materials listed below. 

 

Materials on the list that are accepted at the Waste-Resource Management Centres must be 
delivered separated from other garbage. Questions about how to handle specific items should 
be directed to the Authority at 902-679-1325 or toll free at 1-877-927-8300. 

 

 
1.1 Materials banned from landfill disposal by the provincial Solid Waste-Resource 

Management Regulations and accepted at the Solid Waste-Resource Management 
Centres: 

 

    Beverage containers 

    Corrugated cardboard 

    Newsprint 

    Steel/tin food containers 

    Glass food containers 

 Low Density Polyethylene (LDPE #4) bags and packaging including 
industrial/commercial/institutional stretch wrap (pallet wrap)



21 

 

 

 
 

 

 High Density Polyethylene (HDPE #2) non-hazardous containers and packaging such 
as food containers, detergent containers, shampoo containers, jugs, pails and lids, 
windshield washer containers, non-hazardous cleaner containers, etc. 

    Compostable organic material (food waste, yard waste, Soiled and Non-Recyclable 
Paper) 

    Lead-acid automotive batteries 

    Waste paint & their containers 

    Ethylene glycol (automotive antifreeze) 

    Used glycol 

    Glycol containers 

    Used oil 

    Used oil filters 

    Oil containers 

    Electronic products specified by the Province 
 

In the event of conflict with the above itemized list and the current policy of Nova Scotia 
Environment [NSE], NSE governs. Refer to Schedule “B” — Designated Materials Banned 
from Destruction or Disposal in Landfills and Incinerators in the Nova Scotia Solid Waste- 
Resource Management Regulations. 

 
1.2 Materials banned from landfill disposal by the Authority and accepted 

at the Waste-Resource Management Centres: 
 

    Polycoat or gable top cartons (milk, juice, soy, rice, etc.) and aseptic cartons (Tetra 
Pak®) 

 All non-hazardous plastic bottles and containers Glossy paper, office paper, and other 
recyclable and compostable paper products 

    Boxboard 

    Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) 

    Propane tanks 

    Expanded polystyrene foam (beaded Styrofoam®) 
 

1.3 Materials banned federally, provincially, or by the Authority and not accepted at the Waste- 
Resource Management Centres: 

 
    Industrial, Commercial, Institutional Hazardous Waste 

    Liquid Waste, or Solid Waste saturated to a fluid consistency, which is not part of the 
HHW program 

 Highly combustible or explosive materials, such as celluloid cuttings, motion picture 
film, gasoline or solvent soaked rags or other combustible residues, ammunition, 
dynamite, or other similar material 

 Medical material that is considered pathogenic or biomedical including anatomical 
waste, saturated blood-soaked dressings, infected material, and hypodermic needles 
from physicians, surgeons, dentists or veterinarians 

 Whole carcasses of any animal or parts thereof that may create hazards or nuisance 
except as authorized by the General Manager or designate, except for the bodies of 
companion animals delivered to the Waste-Resource Management Centre by a 
municipal animal control officer 

    Waste listed or characterized as hazardous by federal or provincial law



22 

 

 

 
 

 

 Large pieces of sheet iron, scrap metal or machine parts, automobile bodies and fuel 
tanks 

    Septic tank pumpings, raw sewage or industrial sludge 

    Radioactive materials 

 Soil and rock, and tree branches and stumps exceeding 15 cm (6 in) in diameter, 
unless approved by the General Manager or designate 

    Manure, kennel waste, excreta, fish processing waste 

    Asbestos 

    Fuel tanks exceeding 2250 litre (500 gal) capacity 

    Hot ashes or cinders 

    Used Tires (rim size 24.5 inches or less) 
 Specified Risk Materials (SRM) - the skull, brain, trigeminal ganglia, eyes, palatine 

tonsils, spinal cord and dorsal root ganglia (DRG) of cattle aged 30 months or older, as 
well as the distal ileum of cattle of all ages. In cattle infected with Bovine Spongiform 
Encephalopathy (BSE), these tissues contain the BSE agent and may transmit the 
disease 

 

 
 

2.0    Source-Separation 

 
To facilitate recycling and composting of banned materials, all persons in the Valley Region are 

required to source-separate the waste they generate at permanent, seasonal or temporary Residential 

Premises, at Industrial, Commercial, and Institutional premises, in public places, and at events held in 

public places, commercial premises, and other public event venues. Waste must be separated into the 

following categories: Compostable Organics, Recyclables, Residual Waste, Hazardous Waste, tires, 

and electronics. The items that compose each of these categories are listed below. For up-to-date 

sorting information, including proper preparation, see current the Authority sorting lists in the annual 

calendar on the Authority website (www.vwrm.com), a free Recycle Coach app, or call the Authority 

office at 1-902-679-1325 or toll free at 1-877-927-8300. 

 
2.1 Organics/Compostable Organics 

 
 Food Waste including fruits and vegetables and peelings, table scraps, meat, poultry and 

fish, bones, shellfish (including shells), dairy products, egg shells, cheese, cooking oil, 
grease and fat, bread, grain, rice and pasta, coffee grounds and filters, tea leaves and bags, 
and other similar items 

 Leaf and Yard Waste including grass clippings, leaves, brush, twigs, house and garden 
plants, waste potting soil, sawdust, and wood shavings 

 soiled Boxboard with all plastics, foil and metal fasteners removed (unless soiled with HHW, 
paint, petroleum products, etc.) including cereal, shoe, tissue, cracker, cookie, baking 
product and frozen food boxes (not coated with plastic), paper towel and toilet paper rolls, 
soiled pizza boxes and waxed corrugated cardboard 

    Soiled and Non-Recyclable Paper products (unless soiled with petroleum products) 

    branches and prunings tied in bundles no longer than four (4) feet 

    Christmas trees with decorations and stands removed; and 

 Other materials of plant or animal origin, including cat litter (optional), except for whole 
companion animal or livestock carcasses or parts thereof and Specified Risk Materials (see 
section 1.0).

http://www.vwrm.com/


23 

 

 

 
 
 

 
2.2 Recyclables 

 

Recyclable Paper 
    phone books 

    paper egg cartons and other molded paper products 

    newspaper 

    file folders 

    office paper including shredded paper (bond paper, computer paper, envelopes) 

    paperback books 

    cereal boxes and other Boxboard packaging 

    flyers and magazines 

    non-waxed corrugated cardboard 
 

Recyclable Containers 
    milk and juice containers (no caps) 
 beverage containers (soft drinks, beer, liquor may also be returned to an Enviro-Depot for 

refund) 

    tin/steel food cans 

    aluminum foil plates, trays and wrap 

    glass bottles and jars (remove lids) 

    clean and empty plastic bags 

    all plastic bottles and containers 

    stretch wrap (pallet wrap) 
 

2.3 Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) 
 

HHW to be delivered at no charge to the HHW Depot at one of the Waste-Resource 
Management Centres. In general, material with hazardous symbols on the packaging illustrated 
below shall be considered hazardous. 

 

 
Toxic                          Corrosive          Flammable          Explosive 

 

Examples of Household Hazardous Waste include: 
 

    batteries 

    propane tanks 

    fluorescent light bulbs 

    paint, stain, finishes, sealers 

    motor oil 

    household cleaners 

    pool chemicals 

    pesticides 

    needles and lancets 
 

2.4 Residual Waste



24 

 

 

 
 
 

 
Examples of Residual Waste include: 

 
    chip bags and candy wrappers 

    toothpaste tubes, tooth brushes and floss 

    disposable drink cups 

    diapers 

    toys, clothing and footwear 

    incandescent light bulbs, empty spray cans 

    feminine hygiene products 

    oil and antifreeze containers 

    cat litter (optional) 

    dog feces 

    broken glass 

    appliances not considered part of the electronics program 

    furniture 

    carpet 

    Construction and Demolition (C&D) materials 

    permitted medical Solid Waste* 

    and other items not listed as compostable or Recyclables or as Hazardous Waste 

 
* Permitted medical waste means medical waste that is not medical waste listed in section 1.3 
of the Directives. 

 

 
3.0    Authority Collection 

 
The Authority provides a roadside waste collection program servicing all residential and IC&I Premises 
within the jurisdictions of the municipal unit parties to the Solid Waste-Resource Management 
Intermunicipal Services Agreement, i.e. the Municipality of the County of Kings, and the Towns of 
Annapolis Royal, Berwick, Kentville, Middleton, and Wolfville. Solid Waste is collected through the 
Authority Collection program provided it is source-separated and set out according to the By-law and 
these By-law Directives. 

 
All Eligible Premises are subject to the same source-separation requirements, set-out limits, and 
Collection Container requirements. It is the responsibility of the Owner or Occupant to provide for 
collection and disposal of materials which are not eligible for Authority Collection or which exceed the 
allowable limits. 

 
3.1 Eligible Premises 

 
The basic unit of Authority Collection is a property, or Eligible Premises. To be deemed an 
Eligible Premises, a premises must be in compliance with applicable municipal zoning and 
development requirements, and property taxes levied to date must be paid. In the case of 
federal lands for which property taxes are not paid, premises may be deemed Eligible Premises 
if an agreement is in effect to provide waste management services on those lands. 

 

Residential Premises eligible for Authority Collection include self-contained long-term living 
accommodations containing kitchen facilities in which the Occupant(s) sleep, cook, and eat 
meals. Each such unit is one Eligible Premises.



25 

 

 

 
 
 

 
Industrial Commercial and Institutional (IC&I) Eligible Premises may include a variety of 
industrial, commercial or institutional enterprises or organizations including home occupation 
businesses. An IC&I serviced unit must: 

 
    conform to municipal zoning by-law requirements; 
 comprise the entire building, or form a separate business unit within a building containing 

two or more separate units; 

    be an operating business generating waste through activities of that business; and 

 be assessed as commercial, resource farm, or another designation excepting residential, 
or resource forest. 

 
The Owner or Occupant of any Eligible Premises generating waste in excess of the standard 
collection limits must make arrangements, either through private service providers or using their 
own resources, to remove and Dispose of their waste materials in compliance with the By-law. 

 
Examples of residential and IC&I Eligible Premises include: 

 
    single detached residential dwellings including mobile homes 
 each individual unit in a duplex or semi-detached residential dwelling (under-and-over 

and side-by-side) 
 each individual unit in a Multi-Unit Residential Building (e.g. apartments and 

condominiums) or in a multi-unit ICI building or in a multi-unit mixed use building 

    each individual unit in a row house or townhouse dwelling 

    an individual unit in an industrial, commercial or institutional building as defined above 

    seasonal residential dwellings (e.g. a cottage) 

 church halls, community halls, fire halls, service club halls, and other similar public 
buildings 

 residential dwellings and IC&I Premises on private roads providing that properly sorted 
and contained waste materials shall be deposited in a drop-off depot designated by 
Authority for the purpose, or, in the absence of a drop-off depot, placed at the nearest 
intersection with a public road at the set-out times specified in section 5.2 of the By-law 

    public wharves: a wharf is one Eligible Premises 

    cemeteries: a cemetery is one Eligible Premises 

 seasonal agricultural worker accommodations where Occupants eat, sleep and prepare 
their meals 

 
3.2 Green Carts and Mini-bins 

 
3.2.1 Cart Distribution 

 
The Authority provides aerated Organics Collection Carts (Green Carts) and kitchen Mini- 
bins for each Eligible Premises. Green Carts and Mini-bins are assigned to a given Eligible 
Premises and remain the property of the Authority. In all cases, the Authority supplies the 
Green Cart and Mini-bin only for the Storage and collection of Compostable Organics from 
the premises. Green Carts and Mini-bins are assigned as detailed below: 

 

 a single detached permanent, residential dwelling including a mobile home, individual 
row house, and individual unit in a semi-detached dwelling - one Green Cart and one 
Mini-bin will be assigned automatically to the property;



26 

 

 

 
 

 

    each single Industrial, Commercial, or Institutional premises - one Green Cart and 
Mini-bin will be supplied; 

 a Multi-Unit Residential Building or condominium building - a sufficient number of 
Green Carts will be assigned to provide Storage for the amount of Organics generated 
between collections by all the building’s units combined -usually that means one Green 
Cart for every four units; 
A Mini-bin will be provided to each individual apartment unit; 

 duplexes (side by side or over and under) - one Green Cart will be assigned to each 
unit; 

 seasonal homes on private roads - one Mini-bin will be provided to each unit; a Green 
Cart will only be provided if there is no seasonal waste drop-off depot in the area and 
the resident places the Green Cart at a public road for collection; and 

 church halls, community halls, fire halls, service club halls and other similar buildings - 
one Green Cart and one Mini-bin will be provided on request to each unit 

 
3.2.2 Green Cart Ownership 

 
Green Carts and Mini-bins are and remain the property of the Valley Region Solid 
Waste-Resource Management Authority. The Green Cart and Mini-bin are registered to 
the residential or IC&I property, and are assigned to the property. When a property is 
sold, the Green Cart and Mini-bin shall remain on the property. 

 
3.2.3 Green Cart Exchange 

 
The Authority may from time to time offer more than one size Green Cart to 
accommodate the varying needs of residents. The standard Green Cart size has a 
nominal volume of 240 liters. When other Green Cart sizes are available, the current one 
may be exchanged for one of more suitable size. There is no service fee for this 
exchange. Green Carts will not be exchanged due to uncleanliness or design preference. 

 
3.2.4  Lost, Stolen or Damaged Green Carts or Mini-bins 

 
If a Green Cart is lost, stolen or damaged, except through normal use, it is the Property 
Owner’s responsibility, subject to the General Manager’s discretion, to pay the Authority 
the replacement cost.  If damaged or stolen due to negligence of the collection 
contractor, it will be the contractor’s responsibility to purchase a new Green Cart. 

The Authority will replace Green Carts rendered unusable through normal use at no cost. 

It is the Property Owner’s responsibility to replace lost or broken Mini-bins, except that 
when a property is sold, the Authority will replace missing or destroyed Mini-bins free of 
charge at the Owner’s request. 

 
3.2.5  Sale of Property 

 
Green Carts are the property of the Authority. Upon the sale of a property, the Green 
Cart shall remain with the property. The new Owner is responsible for making new Green 
Cart arrangements with the Authority if necessary. 

 
3.3 Non-Collectable Materials



27 

 

 

 
 
 

 
In addition to all materials detailed in Section 1.0 Banned Materials, subsection iii, the 
Authority will not collect the following materials curbside through the Authority Collection 
program: 

 
    Solid Waste produced outside the jurisdictions administered by the Authority 

    any materials not meeting collection requirements 

 items banned by the province from landfill disposal, as per Schedule B of Solid Waste- 
Resource Regulations; e.g. electronics 

    large windows or large glass doors 

    items covered under the Authority’s Household Hazardous Waste program 
 

3.4 Collection Containers 

Waste shall be set out for Authority Collection in the containers and quantities set out below. 

Collection Containers must be designed to allow for safe and efficient collection. Collection 
Containers that do not allow the collector to remove waste in an ergonomically-acceptable 
manner may be rejected roadside provided the collector affixes a rejection sticker explaining the 
reason. 

 
3.4.1 Acceptable Collection Containers for Authority Collection 

 

Acceptable Collection Containers for Recyclable Materials shall be: 
 Transparent blue plastic bags weighing no more than 15 kg (33 lb.) when full; no 

wider than 0.8 m (30 inches), and no longer than 1 m (39 inches) when flat 
 Bundles of corrugated cardboard: flattened and securely tied or otherwise bound 

together, weighing no more than 15 kg (33 lb.) and measuring no more than 30 cm 
by 60 cm by 90 cm (I foot by 2 feet by 3 feet) 

 
Acceptable Collection Containers for Compostable Organics shall be: 

 Organics Collection Carts as assigned to properties by the Authority weighing no 
more than 100 kg (220 lb.) when full 

 Bundles of brush, no more than 60 cm (2 feet) in diameter, securely tied, and 
weighing no more than 15 kg (33 lb.) with no individual piece of material being 
more than 5 cm (2 inches) in diameter or longer than 1.2 m (4 feet) 

 

Acceptable Collection Containers for Residual Waste shall be: 
    Clear Transparent Plastic Bags: 

a.  Securely tied and watertight 
b.  No wider than 0.8 m (30 inches) , and no longer than 1 m (39 inches) when flat; 

and 
c.   Weighing no more than 15 kg (33 lb.) when full 

 Each serviced unit may set out one (1) solid-coloured regular plastic garbage bag 
(e.g. black, green, brown, white, etc.) as a “privacy bag” each collection cycle, to 
contain private items such as permitted medical waste and other Residual Waste. 
A clear bag filled with smaller opaque bags is considered one solid-coloured 
“privacy bag”. The privacy bag counts as one Residual Waste container and is 
subject to inspection for proper source-separation like any other Residual Waste 
container.



28 

 

 

 
 

 

    Broken glass shall be safely boxed or wrapped to prevent injury 
 To prevent Litter created by pests, snow plows, etc., acceptable Residual Waste 

bags may be set out for collection inside water tight metal or plastic garbage cans 
which are: 
a.  constructed of durable metal, plastic or other impermeable material designed 

for containment of waste; 
b.  equipped with a tight fitting impermeable cover; 
c.   equipped with handles in good repair; and 
d.  as large as or larger in diameter at the top than at the bottom. 

 
NOTE: The basic Collection Container unit remains the plastic bag (clear or solid- 
coloured) regardless whether the bag is set out on its own, in a garbage can, or in a 
Storage bin roadside. 

 
3.4.2 Allowable Number of Collection Containers 
The number of Collection Containers allowed per serviced unit per collection is as follows: 

 
1.  A total of eight bags of Recyclables and Residual Waste combined; 

a.  Up to eight bags may be Recyclable Materials (in blue bags) 
b.  No more than four bags may be Residual Waste (in clear bags) 
c.  One clear bag may be replaced with a solid-coloured privacy bag – see section 

3.4.1, Acceptable Collection Containers for Residual Waste, ii. 
2.  One Green Cart; except in the case of a Multi-Unit Residential Building where the 

number of Green Carts allowed shall be the number issued by the Authority to the 
building in accordance with section 3.2.1 of the Directives; 

3.  Two bundles of brush; and 
4.  Two bundles of corrugated cardboard 

 
3.5 Exemptions from Collection Rules 

 
Occasionally, the Occupant(s) of a serviced unit may be unable to comply with Authority 
Collection rules, for medical or similar reasons. In such cases, after verifying the reasons for the 
inability to comply, and after confirming that the Occupants are aware of their responsibilities 
and are complying with the best of their ability, Authority staff may grant an exemption to the 
normal collection rules. 

 
Staff shall maintain a list of civic addresses where exemptions have been granted and the 
reasons for the exemptions. The civic address list shall be provided to the Authority Collection 
Contractor to ensure that collection at exempted address is carried out consistent with the 
exemptions. 

 
3.6 Curbside Inspection of Solid Waste Setouts 

 

Inspection Guidelines 
 

Authority staff regularly inspect waste materials set out for collection as a means of assessing 
compliance with the By-law and the source-separation and waste container Directives. 
 When the Inspector finds improperly sorted or packaged material set out for collection, the 

inspector may respond with educational tools including leaving the waste with an information 
sticker, and follow-up communication with the Occupant or Owner of the property.



29 

 

 

 
 

 

 Repeated subsequent violations, depending on their severity, may result in a more serious 
penalty as set out in the By-law, such a By-law Ticket or the suspension of the collection 
service. 

 
3.7 Special Collections 

 
3.7.1 Spring and Fall Clean-up 

 
Bulky Items such as furniture, stoves, mattresses, scrap metal, bed springs, barrels, water 
tanks, dishwashers, clothes, washers and dryers, pieces of fencing, refrigerators, freezers, 
air conditioners (with a “CFC refrigerant-free” sticker) and debris from home renovations 
are not collected roadside during regular Authority Collection days. 

 
The Authority provides Special Collections for Bulky Items. The dates, schedules, and 
rules for these collections appear on the annual Authority calendar distributed through the 
jurisdiction of municipal partners and on the Authority website. 

 
Rules for Spring and Fall Cleanup are as follows: 

 
    cleanups are intended for large, bulky and excess Residual Waste only. 

Recyclable Materials and Compostable Organics will not be collected by the clean- 
up trucks. 

 items may be set out for clean-up no earlier than the weekend before the 
scheduled collection day 

 all items must be set out for collection in front of the property where they were 
generated 

    a maximum of 20 items will be collected from each serviced unit 

    an item means a single object, bag, container, or securely tied bundle 

    a bundle shall measure no more than 120 cm (4 feet) in length 

    bagged waste must be placed in clear bags 

 corrugated cardboard Cartons are banned from landfill in Nova Scotia and 
collection crews will empty and leave them for the Owner or Occupant of the 
serviced unit to recycle 

 no more than two of any one appliance type will be collected from any one serviced 
unit 

    items shall weigh no more than 34 kg (75 lb.) each 

 certain large items such as furniture and appliances may weigh up to 91 kg (200 
lb.) 

    items weighing more than 91 kg (200 lb.) will not be collected 

 large windows and glass doors may not be collected because of the potential 
danger to the collection crew if the glass shatters when compacted in the collection 
truck 

 items not collected are the responsibility of the Owner or Occupant and must be 
removed from roadside at the end of the collection day 

 
3.7.2 Other Special Collections 

 
The General Manager may schedule other Special Collections as approved by the 
Authority.



30 

 

 

 
 
 

3.8 Collection Schedule 
 

Regular roadside Authority Collection of Recyclable Materials, Compostable Organics, and 
Residual Waste occurs every second week. Details of collection routes are available in the 
annual Authority Calendar, online at  www.vwrm.com, or by phone through the Hotline at 902- 
679-1325 or toll free at 1-877-927-8300. 

 
Collection will start no earlier than 7:00 a.m. on any collection day, unless otherwise specified. 

 
3.9  Holidays 

 
There shall be no collection on the following designated holidays: 

    New Year’s Day 

    Heritage Day 

    Good Friday 

    Easter Monday 

    Victoria Day 

    Canada Day 

    Labour Day 

    Thanksgiving Day 

    Remembrance Day 

    Christmas Day 

    Boxing Day 
 

The General Manager will notify the public, in advance, of the designated alternate collection 
day for each Holiday, normally through the annual calendar. Information is also available online 
at  www.vwrm.com or through the Hotline at 902-679-1325 or toll free at 1-877-927-8300. 

 

3.10  Storm Day Collection 
 

If Authority Collection is cancelled because of a storm, the collection contractor will collect the 
route the following Monday. If that Monday is a holiday or already scheduled for collection, the 
General Manager will designate another day. 

 
If the collection contractor begins the day’s routes but is called off the road due to inclement 
weather before completing the routes, no alternate collection day will be scheduled. Collection 
stops missed due to the cancellation will be granted double collection limits for the next regularly 
scheduled collection day. 

 
4.0  Hazardous Waste 

 
The Authority Collection program is not designed to collect Hazardous Waste. Residents shall Dispose 
of Household Hazardous Waste through the Household Hazardous Waste (HHW) Depots operated by 
the Authority at the Eastern Management Centre or the Western Management Centre. 

 
The Management Centres are not permitted by the Province to accept Hazardous Waste generated in 
the Industrial, Commercial and Institutional sector. It is the responsibility of the IC&I sector to ensure 
that their Hazardous Waste is Disposed of in accordance with provincial regulations.

http://www.vwrm.com/
http://www.vwrm.com/


31 

 

 

 
 
 

5.0    Public Waste and Special Events 
 
The By-law requires the generator to source-separate their waste. There is no exception for waste 
generated at a public event where Public Waste is generated, or a private event such as a wedding, 
family reunion or other such gathering at a home, or other public or private venue. 

 
The By-law defines Public Waste as: 

 
Public Waste means Solid Waste generated in or on premises where the public is or would 
normally be responsible for Disposing of waste including, without limitation, enclosed or 
exterior shopping centres, malls, food courts, quick-service or counter-service restaurants, 
sports arenas, office or other commercial premises, retail premises, private or public parks 
or campgrounds, and inside or outside public event venues; 

 
It is challenging for businesses or special event managers to control the actions of the public or invited 
guests who use their facilities or attend their events. Public education and cooperation between the 
public, guests, the manager, staff, the waste hauler and the Authority key to successfully managing 
Public Waste. Similar guidelines apply also to operators of private events such as private parties, 
family events and the like. 

 

Event organizers may contact the Authority for information and borrow sorting stations. It is the 
responsibility of event operators to Dispose of materials collected in borrowed sorting stations. The 
event organizer is also responsible for picking up, cleaning and returning borrowed sorting stations. 

 

 
Guidelines for Managing Public Waste 

 

    in any staff-controlled area all waste shall be source-separated 
 where waste is not under staff control, the business or event manager shall exercise due 

diligence to provide the public with conveniently located Source-Separation containers 
 Labels and signage shall be posted indicating what materials should be placed in each 

container to help the public know where to correctly place their waste 

    public washroom waste is considered Residual Waste and there is no requirement to sort it 

    all waste delivered to Management Centres is subject to inspection and compliance measures 

    The Authority staff are available to provide advice on setting up a Public Waste sorting system 

    on request, the Authority lends sorting stations to event organizers 
 

 
 

6.0    Management Centres 
 
The Authority operates two Waste Management Centres, one at 100 Donald E. Hiltz Connector Road, 
in Kentville and one at 343 Elliot Road, south of Exit 19 off Highway 101 near the Village of 
Lawrencetown. The Management Centres are approved by the Minister of the Environment to accept 
Source-Separated Solid Waste from the general public and the IC&I sector. The various streams of 
Solid Waste are transferred off site to approved processing or disposal locations. 

 
6.1    Hours of Public Operation 

 
The Eastern Management Centre in Kentville is open to the public from 8:00 am to 4:00 pm from 
Monday to Friday inclusive and from 8:00 am to 12:00 noon on Saturdays. The Western



32 

 

 

 
 
 

Management Centre in Lawrencetown is open 8:00 am to 4:00 pm on Tuesday, Wednesday, 
and Friday and from 8:00 am to 12:00 pm on Saturdays. 

 
6.2    Materials Not Acceptable as Residual Waste 

 
See Section 1.0 Banned Materials for information on what can be delivered to the Waste- 
Resource Management Centres. 

 
6.3    Waste Disposal Fee Structure 

 
The following provisions apply to the waste disposal fee structure: 

 
 The Authority shall stipulate the fees and charges for disposing materials at its waste 

management facilities. These fees shall be set from time to time by the Authority and 
displayed in a Fee Schedule (see attached sample in Schedule 1 (a)); 

 The applicable disposal fee shall be paid by the hauler who delivers the waste to the Waste- 
Resource Management Centre; 

 Haulers or waste generators wishing to Dispose of materials requiring special handling or 
disposal techniques shall give the Authority 48 hours’ notice requesting permission to deposit 
such special wastes, stating the properties, characteristics, origins and amounts of the waste. 
Authority staff shall advise the hauler whether the waste is acceptable and, if so, under what 
conditions; and 

 No waste disposal fees shall apply to waste collected from Eligible Premises by the collection 
contractor(s) engaged by the Authority to undertake the Authority Collection program. 

 
6.4    Haulage Vehicle Registration 

 
 Commercial haulers using the Authority’s Waste-Resource Management Centres may be 

required to comply with the registration requirements of the Authority including vehicle 
registration for such haulers. 

    The following provisions may apply to vehicle registration for haulers using the Authority’s 
Waste-Resource Management Centres: 

a.  Haulers using the Authority’s waste management facilities shall pre-register 
identifying information and the tare weight of each vehicle as required by the 
Authority from time to time, and separately identify those vehicles to be used in 
contracted Authority Collection services operated on behalf of the Authority (if the 
hauler is also a commercial collection contractor); 

b.  Haulers who wish to be granted credit privileges with the Authority must register 
adequate information with the Authority. Each hauler will be assigned an account 
number and each vehicle may be assigned a unique identification number that shall 
be displayed on the left front of the vehicle in a location, size and format specified by 
the Manager; and 

c.   The driver of each registered vehicle must present the assigned account number to 
the scale operator upon entering the facility. The hauler in whose name the account 
is registered will be invoiced for materials delivered under that account. 

 
6.5    Waste packaging and placement requirements 

 
Waste materials may be brought to the Waste-Resource Management Centre either bagged, 
bundled or loose. For bagged materials, Recyclables must be in blue or clear bags,



33 

 

 

 
 
 

compostables in Green Carts or compostable bags for Organics, and Residual Waste in clear 
bags. In case of Recyclables or Residual Waste brought in cardboard boxes, the boxes must be 
emptied by the user. 

 
All Solid Waste shall be placed in appropriate designated locations for each type of Source- 
Separated Solid waste. Failing to do so is an offence contrary to section 6.8 of the By-law. 

 
6.6    Fee Payment 

 
 Haulers who transport acceptable material to a facility operated by the Authority, either with 

his/her own vehicles, or through his/her contractors or agents shall pay tipping fee charges 
in cash, by credit card, or by current electronic payment technology available at the site or, 
if they have been granted credit privileges, upon invoice in accordance with sections a, b, 
and c below: 
a.  When both inbound and outbound scales are operating, the vehicle will be weighed 

upon entering the facility and shall be weighed again upon leaving. The hauler will pay 
the fee in accordance with the current fee structure prior to leaving the facility, or upon 
receipt of an invoice if the hauler has been granted credit privileges; 

b.  When only one scale is in operation and the tare weight of a vehicle transporting 
materials has been predetermined, payment in accordance with the fee structure is 
required upon being weighed prior to leaving the facility, or upon receipt of an invoice if 
the hauler has been granted credit privileges; and 

c.   When only one scale is in operation and the tare weight of a vehicle transporting 
materials for disposal has not been predetermined, the vehicle will be weighed upon 
entering the facility and again upon leaving. The hauler will then pay the tipping fee in 
accordance with the fee structure set from time to time by the Authority prior to leaving 
the facility, or upon receipt of an invoice if the hauler has been granted credit privileges. 

 
    Haulers who have been granted credit privileges are subject to the current Overdue 

Account Collection Policy. 
 

6.7        Volume Based Tipping Fees 
 

The General Manager shall set per cubic-meter rates payable by the haulers to be used when the 
weigh scales at the Waste-Resource Management Centres become inoperative.  These shall be 
applied based on the capacity of the vehicle and the volume of the material in the vehicle as 
estimated by the scale operator, and shall be based on material weights displayed in Schedule 
1(b) Volume-based Tipping Fee Calculation. 

 
6.8        Inspection and Compliance Guidelines 

 
Waste at the Waste-Resource Management Centres may be inspected to ensure compliance with 
the source-separation and waste packaging requirements established by provincial regulation, the 
By-law, and operational rules of the Waste-Resource Management Centres. 

 
 Based on a visual inspection, random selection or other factors, Waste-Resource Management 

Centre staff may choose a load for thorough screening. Waste screening normally means 
removing bagged waste or individual items from a load for careful examination to assess 
compliance and to identify the waste generator(s).



34 

 

 

 
 

 

 As provided in section 7.4 of the By-law, inspection staff have the authority to request the 
names of all customers whose waste is contained in commercial loads being inspected. 

 Non-compliant materials located in a load are communicated to the hauler, customer or 
generator of the waste. 

 Non-compliant materials located in a load may also result in any penalty detailed in the By-law, 
including without limitation, a Warning, a By-law Ticket, a double tipping fee, or rejection of the 
load and sending it back to the generator for corrective action before it can be accepted at the 
Waste-Resource Management Centre. 

 

7.0    By-law Enforcement 
 

7.1    Compliance Philosophy 
 

Authority staff use a balance of education and enforcement strategies to improve compliance 
with municipal By-laws and provincial regulations. Providing information and assistance to 
citizens and businesses is the first step in achieving compliance, followed if necessary by 
progressive enforcement action such as written notice, Warnings, fines and charges laid by 
investigators to be dealt with according to law in Provincial or Supreme Court. 

 
7.2    Enforcement Tools and Procedures 

 
The graduated enforcement response has been developed to address cases of failure to comply 
with the requirements of the By-law and Directives. 

 
The tools used by enforcement staff range from verbal communication, written notice with 
specific deadlines, Warnings, suspension of curbside waste collection, Notices of Violation 
providing for an administrative out-of-court settlement (By-law Tickets), Summary Offence 
Tickets (SOTs) and Long Form Information charges in Provincial Court. 

 
The enforcement tools are chosen based on the type and severity of offence and are at the 
discretion of the enforcement staff and in accordance with the Offence Enforcement and 
Penalties provisions of this By-law. 

 
7.3    Investigation 

 
All complaints and information concerning alleged violations of the By-law received are 
prioritized and investigated as quickly as resources allow. As needed, during the investigation, 
enforcement staff will work closely with other Authority staff, municipal staff, Nova Scotia 
Environment Inspectors, and with the local police agencies. 

 
The By-law Enforcement Officer shall be qualified as a Special Constable under the Nova Scotia 
Police Act, be a member of the Atlantic Bylaw Officers Association (ABOA) and shall participate 
in enforcement and compliance training opportunities.



35 

 

 

 
 

 

Schedule 1(a) – Fee Schedule 
Current April 1, 2020 

 

 
 

Waste Category Price Per Tonne 

 Authority Members Non-members 

Recyclables $97 $129 

Organics 

     Food Waste 

     Brush, Grass Clippings, Pine Needles 

     Leaves 

 

 
$97 
$97 

No Charge 

 

 
$129 
$129 

Garbage $121 $161 

Construction & Demolition Debris – Sorted 
 

  Brick, block,                 
     Asphalt shingles 

concrete 

      Asphalt                       
     Drywall

 

$57 $76 

Construction & Demolition Debris – Mixed $121 $161 

Scrap Metals and White Goods 
One free appliance per day 

 

$57 
 

$76 

Minimum Fee $5 $10 

 

Penalty Fee 
 

$242 
 

$322 

Other Services 
  

CFC Removal from Refrigeration Units $20/unit $20/unit 

Household Hazardous Waste No Fee No Fee 

Contaminated Soil: 
Contact the Authority for disposal locations. 

Dependent on disposal 
location 

Dependent on disposal 
location 

Other Special Wastes: 
Generator must give the Authority 48 hours’ notice 
to make special arrangements. 

 

 
To be arranged 

 

 
To be arranged 

Weighscale usage (loaded weight and tare weight) $10.00 per load 

Used wood pallets (for sale) $2.00 each 

 

Hours of Operation: 
Kentville: Mon – Fri 8am-4pm. Saturday 8am-12noon 

Lawrencetown: Tues, Wed, Fri 8am – 4pm. Saturday 8 am-12 noon 
Note 1: The minimum fee applies to the following: 41kg and less for garbage, 50 kg and less for Organics, 50 kg and less for 

Recyclables or 90 kg and less for sorted construction & demolition debris and scrap metal. 
 

Note 2: The term Authority Members applies to anyone bringing a load generated in the Municipality of the County of 
Kings, the Towns of Annapolis Royal, Berwick, Kentville, Middleton and Wolfville, and the First Nations communities of 
Annapolis Valley, Bear River, and Glooscap. Loads originating outside these areas are considered non-members.



36 

 

 

 
 
 

Schedule 1(b) 
Volume Based Tipping Fee Calculation 

 
It may be necessary at times to operate one or both of the Waste-Resource Management Centres with 
inoperable scales – for example, during an emergency such as a major power failure. In such a 
circumstance it would be impossible to charge tipping fees based on incoming weights. Volume-based 
fees are one option. 

 
The following table details conversion factors that the scale operator can use to calculate fees based on 
the type and volume of the material on the delivery truck. 

 
 

Volume Based Weights 
 

 

MSW lb./cu yd. kg/cu yd. kg/cu m 

Non-compacted 225 102 134 

Compacted 750 341 446 

C&D    

Loose Mixed 560 255 333 

Wood 169 77 100 

Roofing 731 332 434 

Concrete 860 391 511 

Organics    

Food Waste 1,070 486 635 

Leaves 225 102 134 

Brush 300 136 178 

Grass 400 182 238 

Recyclables    

Paper Mixed Loose 875 398 520 

Containers Mixed Loose 35 16 21 
 

Information from various sources including 
National Recycling Coalition Measurement Standards and Reporting Guidelines; EPA; FEECO; CIWMB 
2006 

Conversions: I kg = 2.2 lb.; I cu yd. = .765 cu meter 

 

 

 

 



 

    



 

 



⚫ Page 1  

 

Memo  
To:     Brian Smith, Interim CAO 
 
From: Debra Crowell, Director of Finance  
 
Date: November 27, 2020 
 
Re: RESOLUTION- WITHDRAWAL- TOWN CAPITAL EQUIPMENT RESERVE  
 

The 2020/2021 Town of Kentville capital budget provides for funding of capital equipment 

acquisitions from the Town’s Capital Equipment Reserve fund. The details for the Capital 

Reserve are as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Town of Kentville Capital Equipment Reserve contains $172,920 and after the 

withdrawal, it will contain $99,920.  

  

RECOMMENDATION:   

I recommend to Council Advisory Committee that the attached resolution be approved for 

a withdrawal of $ 73,000.00 from the Town of Kentville Capital Equipment Reserve to fund 

2020/21 transportation equipment acquisitions. After this approval, I recommend that the 

resolution be forwarded to the next meeting of Town Council for ratification.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TRANSPORTATION  
PROJECT 

BUDGET  
(from reserve) 

RESERVE FUND 
Draw # 1 

 $ $ 

Equipment- trucks 73,000 73,000 



⚫ Page 2  

 

  

RESOLUTION  

WITHDRAWAL FROM TOWN OF KENTVILLE CAPITAL EQUIPMENT 

RESERVE  

  

- 2020/2021 CAPITAL PROJECT  

  

WHEREAS S.99 (1) of the Municipal Government Act allows a municipality to 

maintain a capital reserve fund for purposes determined by S.S. (4) and 

withdrawals from the Town of Kentville Capital Reserve are authorized by a 

resolution of Council;  

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Town of Kentville that a 

withdrawal from the Town of Kentville Capital Equipment Reserve is authorized in 

the amount of $73,000.00 to fund capital equipment acquisitions for the year 

2020/2021.  

 

THIS IS TO CERTIFY that the foregoing 

resolution was passed at a duly called meeting 

of the Town Council held on the       day of          

AD 2021.  

GIVEN under the hand of the Town Clerk and 

under the corporate seal of the Town of 

Kentville this        day of           AD 2021.  

  

 

        Brian Smith, Interim Town Clerk 



 

 



⚫ Page 1  

 
Memo  
To: Brian Smith, Interim CAO 
From: Debra Crowell, Director of Finance  
Date: November 27, 2020 
Re: RESOLUTION- WITHDRAWAL- TOWN CAPITAL RESERVE- Draw # 1  
 

The 2020/2021 capital budget provides for partial funding of capital acquisitions from the 

Town’s Capital Reserve fund. Several projects are complete or partially complete and 

require a resolution of Council to withdraw funds. The details for the Capital Reserve are 

as follows: 

 

 
 

PROJECT BUDGET 
(from reserve) DRAW #1

$  $ 

Administration 20/21 IT Projects 20,000 14,875.27               

Town Hall - Heat pump 17,500 -                            

Town Hall- Design work COVID/Safety 20,000 18,456.88               

Protective Services Equipment 24,500 9,788.24                 

Technology upgrades 28,000 1,770.91                 

Transportation Streets-Bridge 37,500 -                            

Storm sewer-Aberdeen & Palmeter 130,400 33,418.59               

River Street dyke 15,000 -                            

Flood mitigation study 60,000 5,694.43                 

Public Works building 30,000 8,062.74                 

Recreation Green Spaces- various 15,000 -                            

Playground- Sherry Ave 10,000 -                            

Studies- Assessibility 35,000 25,549.82               

Soccer 8,000 6,436.15                 

MP- Shed siding 18,900 18,900.00               

MP-Fencing 15,000 14,850.18               

MP- Mosquito ball field 6,500 5,828.30                 

Oakdene Park- Gazebo/Trail 11,000 4,692.82                 

Equipment 9,500 2,639.21                 

Economic Downtown betterments-lighting 7,500 10,532.93               

Signage- Gateway 30,000 11,374.81               

Signage- Kentville Business Park 20,000 -                            

Centre Square beautification 23,300 14,524.88               

Total 592,600 207,396.16             



⚫ Page 2  

The Town of Kentville Capital Reserve- General Allocation contains $1,564,658 

and after the withdrawal, it will contain $1,363,698. 

 

The Town of Kentville Capital Reserve- Recreation contains $39,411 and after 

withdrawal, it will contain $32,975. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

I recommend to Council Advisory Committee that the attached resolution be 

approved for a withdrawal of $207,396.16 from the following reserves:  

 

• Town of Kentville Capital Reserve- General Allocation- $200,960.01 

• Town of Kentville Capital Reserve Recreation-$6,436.15 

 

These transfers will partially fund several capital acquisitions during the year 

2020/2021.  After this approval, I recommend that the resolution be forwarded to 

the next meeting of Town Council for ratification.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



⚫ Page 3  

  

RESOLUTION  

WITHDRAWAL FROM TOWN OF KENTVILLE CAPITAL RESERVE  

  

- 2020/2021 CAPITAL PROJECTS 

  

WHEREAS S.99 (1) of the Municipal Government Act allows a municipality to 

maintain a capital reserve fund for purposes determined by S.S. (4) and 

withdrawals from the Town of Kentville Capital Reserve are authorized by a 

resolution of Council;  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the Town of Kentville that a 

withdrawal from the Town of Kentville Capital Reserve is authorized in the amount 

of $207,396.16 to partially fund capital acquisitions and an addition for the 

2020/2021 capital program.  

  

THIS IS TO CERTIFY that the foregoing 

resolution was passed at a duly called meeting 

of the Town Council held on the       day of          

AD 2021.  

GIVEN under the hand of the Town Clerk and 

under the corporate seal of the Town of 

Kentville this        day of           AD 2021.  

  

 

        Brian Smith, Interim Town Clerk 



 

 



         

 

 

 



 

 

 

 





 

 

Re. a project to develop a Regional Climate Change Mitigation Plan 
 
This collaborative project would develop a Regional Climate Change Mitigation Plan 
(RCCMP) for King’s County. Specifically, the project would identify sources of GHG 
emissions in King’s County, explore and develop individual and joint emissions 
reduction opportunities, and produce a plan for consideration and adoption by the 
participating Municipalities. 
 
Overview 
 
In January 2020, staff from the 4 municipalities in Kings County (Towns of Berwick, 
Kentville, and Wolfville; and Municipality of the County of kings) met to explore 
opportunities for meaningful regional climate action. Together, we identified a set of 
shared/regional priorities, addressing the risks and hazards of climate change we faced 
together (adaptation) and opportunities to reduce emissions (mitigation). 
 
This project, building off work begun in the development of “Kings 2050”, the regional 
Municipal Climate Change Action Plan, represents an updated and collaborative 
response to the climate crisis by the participating municipalities. The goal is to develop 
a clear, evidence-based regional plan for Greenhouse Gas emission reduction, based 
on local circumstances and best practices, and endorsed by all municipal Councils. 
 
To start, the 4 municipalities will develop GHG emissions inventories using the most 
recent census year in order to identify the major sources of GHG emissions within their 
communities. Next, the parties will model these inventories, based on conditions and 
policies currently in place, to project emissions over the next 30 years in a “business as 
usual” scenario that will help to determine the extent of the change and work needed in 
the region.  
 
Finally, using applicable best practices and identifying both individual (municipal) and 
collective (regional) solutions, the working group will develop a Regional Climate 
Change Mitigation Plan. The RCCMP will lay out how Kings County can achieve 
emission-reduction targets in line with the Provincial goals legislated in the Nova Scotia 
Sustainable Development Goals Act and the recommendations of the Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change. 
 
The RCCMP will be outcome-oriented, seeking to identify the changes and shifts 
required by each community and collectively to meet the targets outline above. It will 
inform the next stage of the project, providing impetus and guidance for development of 



 

 

local and regional action and implementation plans that include specific policy, 
regulatory, program and infrastructure related actions needed to achieve the goals of 
the RCCMP. 
 
In tandem with this planning exercise, the parties will develop and implement an online 
community engagement strategy on climate action. This will take the form of a web-
based platform for data collection, participatory planning, and information dissemination. 
The platform will be used to inform and shape the development of the regional climate 
change mitigation plan, and communicate the outcomes of the planning process. 
 
Deliverables 
 

1. GHG emissions inventories for all municipalities in the County  
2. Business-as-usual and low-carbon scenarios modelled for all municipalities  
3. A Regional Climate Change Mitigation Plan 

 
Project Team 
 
This would be a project of the recently formed Kings County Climate Change Mitigation 
and Adaptation Working group, which includes staff representation from all 4 of the 
municipalities in the County. Additional project support will be provided by planning staff 
from the Town of Wolfville and consultants, as needed. 
 
Budget 
 
The Town of Wolfville, on behalf of the Kings County Climate Change Mitigation and 
Adaptation Working Group, is proposing to apply for $75,000 in funding to support this 
project through the Province’s Low Carbon Communities funding program. Additionally, 
the Town of Wolfville is committing in-kind staff resources, with an estimated value of 
$10,000, towards GHG emissions inventory development and scenario modelling 
components of this project. It is requested that the towns of Kentville and Berwick, and 
the Municipality of the County of King’s contribute $5,000, pending a successful 
application to the Province’s Low Carbon Communities funding program, to this project. 



 

 

 



         





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 



 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 

mailto:CAO@Kentville.ca


 

 



 

 

 

 



         

 

 





 

 

 

 

 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



         

 





 July 10, 2020 

Policy Brief  
Enabling Meaningful Local Climate Action Across Nova Scotia 

Presented to Nova Scotia’s Department of Environment and the Department of Energy and Mines  

 

The Municipal Energy Learning Group (MELG) is a province-wide network of N.S. municipal staff and elected 

officials that are engaged in community energy leadership, GHG emission reductions, and climate change 

action. As a group, they are suggesting provincial policy changes that would enable the development of 

Smart Energy Communities across the province. We appreciate the opportunity that the Department of 

Environment has given us to provide input to their climate strategy.  

 

Methodology 

QUEST coordinated the collection of policy recommendation ideas from MELG. The first step that QUEST 

took to collect ideas was to email each municipality in MELG and ask them for a list of recommended actions 

the provincial government could take to enable smart energy communities in NS. Follow up phone 

conversations with municipalities were 

then had to better understand their 

challenges and suggestions. We talked to 

11 of the municipalities over the phone 

or by video chat.  

 

Using the feedback from the emails, and 

phone and video calls, QUEST created a 

list of 70 ideas for recommendations to 

the provincial government [Appendix A]. 

The list of 70 recommendations was 

broken down into 10 categories [Table A], 

with the prioritized recommendation 

categories represented in Figure A.  

 

Table A: Category Tags 

1 Access to Data & Data Tracking 6 Land Use 

2 Bureaucracy/Communication  7 Provincial Electricity Planning 

3 Community Energy Generation  8 Standards and Quality Assurance 

4 Education & Training 9 Transportation 

5 Financing & Funding 10 Workforce Capacity 

1 



 

The total list of recommendations was circulated prior to a MELG meeting held on April 30th, 2020  so that 

feedback and comments could be collected. In attendance were 37 parties representing 14 municipalities, 

one Mi'kmaw association, the NS Department of Energy, and Clean Foundation.  

 

Subsequently, the 70 recommendations went out to the municipalities in the form of a survey, and they 

were asked to rank their top 10. A total of 13 survey responses and 2 rankings via email were compiled to 

create a list of the top 14 priorities.  The list has received general approval from the municipalities who 

participated in the MELG meeting with the caveat that a much deeper discussion about the prioritized 

recommendations is necessary. The municipal representatives in MELG prioritized their top 14 

recommendations as listed in Table B.  

 

Limitations 

Firstly, we asked municipalities to consider limitations that they have encountered in their own work. 

Therefore, we did not draw on examples of community energy planning from jurisdictions around the world 

to inspire conversation. Further, as this is a MELG initiative, only a fraction of the municipalities in the 

province have been included in the development of the list.  

 

In addition, each municipality consulted is at a different stage of their climate or energy plan 

implementation. While some have been working on their climate plans for quite some time, others have 

only recently started to write their climate plans. Some municipalities have targets for greenhouse gas 

emissions reductions that cannot be reached without action from the Province. 

 

Furthermore, the list of 70 recommendations was challenging to present in a survey since the tool used 

(SurveyMonkey) had its own limitations. Thus, some municipalities opted to respond using email since they 

found that the survey used for collecting responses was difficult to use.  It is unclear whether the challenge 

of using the survey changed responses, but it is a possibility. It is for this reason that the document was 

circulated to municipalities to review twice before sending it to the Department of Environment.  

 

Recommendation 

We would like to make a formal request to the Province to have a follow up meeting with MELG about the 

recommendations below to explore each one more thoroughly. There are other stakeholders that may have 

input into thispolicy that can support municipal climate planning, especially energy and climate planning 

consultants like the Sustainability Solutions Group.  

 

All in all, this is a report  of surface-level recommendations intended to start a lasting and generative 

conversation.  Municipalities face  unique circumstances in their ability to reduce the province’s greenhouse 

gas emissions. The conversation needs to continue to maintain regular engagement in community energy 

leadership, GHG emissions reductions, and climate change action.  

 

 

 

 

2 



 

 Table B: Policy Recommendation Reasoning 

1 

Funding and Financing: Exclude secure 

energy-related municipal borrowing (including 

Property Assessed Clean Energy financing - PACE) 

from the calculation of municipal Debt Service 

Coverage Ratios (DSCR) 

Municipal financing is essential for citizens and 

businesses to reduce their carbon footprint. 

Currently, this financing has a negative impact 

on the calculation of the municipality’s Debt 

Service Coverage Ratios, which constrains their 

ability to fund other capital projects and 

essential services as these almost always take 

priority over energy projects.  

2 

Funding and Financing: More funding and 

financing for basic, “tried and true” climate 

action that is not based on innovation. 

This will allow for municipalities to develop 

more of the basic Smart Energy Community 

programs and policies such as LED street lights 

and active transportation.  

3 

Funding and Financing: Enable municipalities to 

borrow from private & non-profit sources to 

capitalize on transformative energy & 

infrastructure solutions. Offer financing tools for 

climate action through the Municipal Finance 

Corp – green bonds, catastrophe bonds, green 

banks and allow municipalities to offer these 

financial mechanisms to be able to fund 

municipal projects. 

There are billions of dollars available for 

investment in energy and climate solutions. 

Due to regulations, municipalities cannot 

currently access any of this investment capital. 

 

Currently, municipalities can only accept 

financing through the Municipal Finance 

Corporation of Nova Scotia. It would be 

beneficial for the MFC to develop 

climate-focused financing tools.  

4 

Funding and Financing: Develop a carbon budget 

for the province, and then require that 

provincially-supported infrastructure projects 

complete emission modeling and accounting 

This would ensure that the province’s funding 

and financing are directed towards projects 

that enable the energy transition and smart 

energy communities. 

5 

Funding and Financing: Allow municipalities to 

provide tax exemptions or reductions for 

property owners that make energy efficiency 

upgrades or meet a certain standard of energy 

efficiency.  

This helps to target the split-incentive issue 

faced by landlords and tenants. Measures will 

have to be taken to ensure that the tenants 

also benefit from the energy efficiency 

upgrades, as per the design of the Efficiency 

Nova Scotia program. 

6 
Funding and Financing: Have set-asides in 

funding programs for small municipalities 

The smaller municipalities have fewer 

resources to write grant applications. 

Set-asides in funding programs for smaller 

municipalities will more equitably distribute 

financial resources.  

3 



 

7 

Funding and Financing: Integrate existing Federal 

& Provincial funding programs to enable deep 

energy retrofits to existing housing stock 

(low-income in particular). 

Essential solution to support mass retrofits for 

housing stock and upgrading living conditions 

to lift residents out of energy poverty  

8 

Funding and Financing: For the purpose of 

financing energy and infrastructure projects that 

support local priorities, maintain the Community 

Economic Development Investment Fund (CEDIF) 

equity tax credit program and reduce restrictions 

on partnerships between municipalities and 

CEDIFs 

More freedom for municipalities and residents 

to receive investments for smart energy and 

sustainable infrastructure developments. Local 

community investment has significant social 

and economic benefits.  

 

** While this recommendation made it into the 

top ten list, we have received many expressions 

of concern about the social equity implications 

of the CEDIF program. 

9 

Funding and Financing: Allow municipalities to 

lend to private businesses – this will allow PACE 

financing to be expanded to commercial and 

industrial participants. 

Many municipalities do not know that this is an 

option. PACE financing options need to be 

clarified. 

10 

Access to Data & Data Tracking: Access to 

Efficiency NS and NS Power data allowing for 

better and more reliable data collection and 

efficiency of data collection. Useful data includes 

electricity demand in each community, program 

participation data, and program impact data 

(with respect to energy savings and GHG 

emission reduction). 

Access to consistently collected and good 

quality data is essential to inform 

community-led initiatives. There is currently 

some frustration being expressed by Climate 

Change Coordinators about the lack of access 

to high quality data when creating municipal 

GHG emission inventories. BC has set a good 

example of how the province can administer 

energy data. Please also see QUEST’s Energy 

Data Roadmap. 

11 

Access to Data & Data Tracking: Require private 

firms to give up sales data, e.g. gasoline and 

heating oil sales, for the purposes of GHG 

emission inventory development. 

Greater pool of data would allow for more 

reliable GHG emissions reduction  planning and 

target setting 

12 

Access to Data & Data Tracking: Support from 

the province to municipalities in creating a 

databank of municipal GHG emissions 

information, specifically for community GHG 

emissions  inventories. Municipalities would 

report on four primary sectors (buildings, 

on-road transportation, solid waste, and 

land-use change from deforestation) and seven 

supporting indicators (housing type, residential 

The smaller municipalities have fewer 

resources, and standardized data would allow 

for more reliable GHG emission reduction 

planning and target setting. A databank of 

municipal energy information would ease data 

collection activities from municipal climate 

change coordinators.   BC has set a good 

example of how the province can administer 

energy data. Please also see QUEST’s Energy 

4 



 

density, commute by mode, green space, floor 

area, walk score, proximity to transit). 

Data Roadmap. 

13 

Provincial Electricity Planning: Change the UARB 

criteria for regulating NSP to encourage the 

corporation to accelerate the transition to 

renewable energy sources. 

Some municipalities will not be able to meet 

their climate targets unless Nova Scotia Power 

(NSP) significantly lowers the carbon intensity 

of its electricity.  Collaboration between 

municipalities and NSP on community-scale 

clean energy projects is beginning and should 

also be encouraged and supported. 

14 

Capacity and Workforce: Bolster trade sector 

capacity and training to undertake the required 

energy efficiency and renewable energy work 

Essential solution to support energy transition 

activity as there are a lack of technical skilled 

workers in the workforce to complete the 

required and forecasted work.  

 

  

5 



 

 

Appendix A: Full List of Policy Recommendation Ideas 

The following is the full list of recommendations that municipalities were asked to prioritize. At this time, we 

are not asking for follow through on all 70 recommendations. This list of all policy recommendation ideas is 

provided for context. Not all recommendations on this list are achievable, under provincial jurisdiction, or are 

necessarily effective.  

 

1. Funding and financing: Enable municipalities to borrow from private & non-profit sources to 

capitalize on transformative energy & infrastructure solutions 

2. Funding and financing: Offer financing tools for climate action through the Municipal Finance Corp – 

green bonds, catastrophe bonds, green banks and allow municipalities to offer these financial 

mechanisms to be able to fund municipal projects. 

3. Funding and financing: Exclude secure energy-related municipal borrowing (including Property 

Assessed Clean Energy financing - PACE) from the calculation of municipal Debt Service Coverage 

Ratios (DSCR) 

4. Funding and financing: Allow municipalities to lend to private businesses – this will allow PACE 

financing to be expanded to commercial and industrial participants. 

5. Funding and financing: More funding and financing for basic, “tried and true” climate action that is 

not based on innovation. 

6. Funding and financing: Have set-asides in funding programs for small municipalities 

7. Funding and financing: Integrate existing Federal & Provincial funding programs to enable deep 

energy retrofits to existing housing stock (low-income in particular).  

8. Funding and financing: Integrate capital and operating funds to achieve the best long-term value 

9. Funding and financing: Incentivize energy efficiency upgrades in rental housing by providing tax 

exemptions or reductions and/or authorize property tax exemptions or reductions for rental housing 

owners who increase the energy efficiency of properties or meet certain standards of energy 

efficiency 

10. Funding and financing: Develop a carbon budget for the province then require that 

provincially-supported infrastructure projects complete emission modeling and accounting  

11. Funding and financing: For the purpose of financing energy and infrastructure projects that support 

local priorities, maintain the Community Economic Development Investment Fund (CEDIF) equity tax 

credit program and reduce restrictions on partnerships between municipalities and CEDIFs 

12. Funding and financing: Support of initial start-up of retrofit programs – support for studies, funding 

to help leverage private and federal capital 

13. Access to Data & Data Tracking: Access to Efficiency NS and NS Power data allowing for better and 

more reliable data collection and efficiency of data collection. Useful data includes electricity 

demand in each community, program participation data, and program impact data (with respect to 

energy savings and GHG emission reduction). 

14. Access to Data & Data Tracking: Open source GHG emissions measurement tools (these tools should 

not be locked up or behind financial barriers) 

6 



 

15. Access to Data & Data Tracking: Support from the province to municipalities in creating a databank 

of municipal GHG emission information, specifically for community GHG emission inventories. 

Municipalities would report on four primary sectors (buildings, on-road transportation, solid waste, 

and land-use change from deforestation) and seven supporting indicators( housing type, residential 

density, commute by mode, green space, floor area, walk score, proximity to transit).  

16. Access to Data & Data Tracking: Require private firms to give up sales data, e.g. gasoline and heating 

oil sales, for the purposes of GHG emission inventory development 

17. Access to Data & Data Tracking: Support communities in collecting public health, environmental, 

social and economic data and indicators related to their climate action plans 

18. Access to Data & Data Tracking: A repository of municipal GHG emission  inventories from the 

province so that conclusions can be drawn as to what the largest contribution to GHG emissions  are 

in municipalities, and therefore have a clear idea of the most impactful actions 

19. Standards & Quality Assurance: Standards for energy-related engineering and assessment work.  For 

example, all energy assessments and audits to conform to standard ‘x,y,z’. 

20. Standards & Quality Assurance: Standards for government-based procurement activities.  For 

example, energy performance standards for equipment contracts / construction to conform to 

standard ‘x,y,z’ 

21. Standards & Quality Assurance: Provincial or National certification requirements for energy-related 

work and government/UARB maintenance of those certifications.  

22. Standards & Quality Assurance: Where municipalities rely on codes and standards developed by the 

Province, update these to reflect the changing climate.  Low-carbon and resilient infrastructure 

standards should be updated frequently as new knowledge about climate develops. 

23. Buildings: Institute an energy consumption cap for new construction 

24. Buildings: Develop minimum energy performance standards and requirements for existing 

building(s) undergoing renovations, including large, commercial and MURBS 

25. Buildings: Adopt a step code and allow municipalities to lead and require buildings within its 

jurisdiction to be at a higher tier in the code.  

26. Buildings: Develop and adopt a net-zero and climate-resilient building code that scales up over time 

so that all new construction is net-zero by 2030.  

27. Buildings: Allow municipalities to develop and enforce their own “stretch” building codes if they are 

more environmentally stringent than the Provincial code. 

28. Capacity and Workforce: Permanent climate change coordinator in each municipality 

29. Capacity and Workforce: Permanent climate change coordinator in each county 

30. Capacity and Workforce: Bolster trade sector capacity and training to undertake the required energy 

efficiency and renewable energy work 

31. Capacity and Workforce: Collaborating with students from Universities and NSCC to help with the 

environmental planning  

32. Education and Training: Mandate and invest in comprehensive in-school climate change education 

33. Education and Training: Providing courses/seminars about energy planning / Climate action plan 

tools for municipal staff 

34. Community Energy Generation: Bring back Community Feed-In Tariff (ComFIT) program or some 

type of community-based Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) 

7 



 

35. Community Energy Generation: Eliminate or reduce the feed-in tariff for the renewable to retail 

program. 

36. Community Energy Generation: Policy (or specific program under the Electricity Act) to enable 

community-scale virtual net metering (e.g. Solar Garden) 

37. Community Energy Generation: Legislation to enable Combined Heat & Power (CHP) systems 

38. Community Energy Generation: Public Utilities Act should be amended to not include thermal 

energy. This would encourage district energy. Municipalities should be allowed to sell excess energy 

39. Community Energy Generation: Policy and legislation to support the establishment of Municipal 

Energy Utilities (not explicitly prohibited currently, but certainly not supported) 

40. Community Energy Generation: Eliminate or raise the maximum amount of renewable energy that 

can be generated by grid-tied renewable energy generation systems 

41. Community Energy Generation: Remove barriers around distribution zones in the Enhanced Net 

Metering Program. 

42. Provincial Electricity Planning: Cancel the coal phase-out exemption, eliminating or upgrading 

coal-fired power plants to meet the Federal 2030 targets.  

43. Provincial Electricity Planning: Change the UARB criteria for regulating NSP to encourage the 

corporation to accelerate the transition to renewable energy sources.  

44. Provincial Electricity Planning: Continue to decarbonize the provincial electricity grid  

45. Provincial Electricity Planning: Allow mandatory connection for all distributed energy projects in the 

future – it is difficult to go through the charter amendment process for each project and this would 

allow distributed energy to be integrated into land-use bylaws. 

46. Transportation: Give municipalities the authority to mandate for EV chargers in new buildings 

47. Transportation: Provide support for greening fleets and transit systems. 

48. Transportation: Mandate minimum EV stock for dealerships. 

49. Transportation: Increase provincial budget for active transportation 

50. Transportation: Institute carbon emission-based vehicle registration fees or use charges 

51. Transportation: Enable communities to reduce speed limits outside of school zones to encourage 

walking and cycling. 

52. Transportation: Allowing municipalities to have more control over their public transportation routes, 

especially those routes that extend beyond municipal boundaries which are currently controlled by 

UARB. 

53. Transportation: Require that all land use plans include provisions for non-motorized transportation 

as part of any development beyond a specific density threshold. 

54. Transportation: Amend the Rideshare Act to support sustainable transportation 

55. Transportation: All three levels of government making substantial investment in public transit– with 

a focus on electrified public transportation. 

56. Transportation: Allow municipalities to have more control over what happens on the streets in their 

communities as many are provincially owned within municipal boundaries and allow for more ability 

to pilot ideas to improve safety. 

57. Transportation: Lower speed limits, add traffic calming, bike and pedestrian infrastructure (advisory 

bike lanes, bike signals, etc.) 

8 



 

58. Land Use: Amend the legislation regarding voting numbers for the Agricultural Marshland 

Conservation Act, that states in order to make changes to any marsh body, all owners have to vote - 

in person! Amend the legislation so that it’s easier to hold a vote. 

59. Land Use: Adaptation funding should also protect homes and businesses/infrastructure, not just 

agricultural land.  

60. Land Use: Major adaptation infrastructure investment must have support from surrounding 

communities 

61. Land Use: In order to support densification, eliminate R-1 zoning. 

62. Land Use: Require that all land use plans in NS include provisions for the inclusion of commercial 

(e.g. large scale wind), district (e.g. energy from waste on farms), and micro renewable energy 

systems (e.g. neighbourhood solar gardens or home-based systems). 

63. Land Use: Continue to coordinate with municipalities on the development of the regulations, the 

timing of regulations, data input decisions for flood risk assessment, and the model for 

co-administration. 

64. Bureaucracy/Communications: Seems that a lot of municipalities are doing the same types of 

activities/projects for their environment and climate. How can municipalities not have to each forge 

their own way?  

65. Bureaucracy/Communications: Host a process with municipalities, contractors, and developers 

about improving Efficiency NS programs 

66. Bureaucracy/Communications: Clarity of contact to liaise with government and navigate the systems  

67. Bureaucracy/Communications: Consult with municipalities about changes to the Electricity Act 

68. Bureaucracy/Communications: Integrate climate mitigation and adaptation at the provincial level so 

that there can be a holistic approach to projects, plans, and communication 

69. Miscellaneous: Commission 3rd party evaluation of environmental impacts of social programs, e.g. 

Community Transportation Assistance Program 

70. Miscellaneous: Begin piloting and incentivizing the use of batteries and storage in clean energy 

projects through funding and research.  

 

9 



 

 

 

 















































 

 

 

 



Page 1 of 2 

         

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



Page 2 of 2 



IMSA MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  

 

 

This MOU dated the _____ day of ____________, 20____ 

 

Between: 

 

TOWN OF ANNAPOLIS ROYAL 

 

and 

 

TOWN OF BERWICK 

 

and 

 

TOWN OF KENTVILLE 

 

and 

 

MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF KINGS 

 

and 

 

TOWN OF MIDDLETON 

 

and 

 

WEST HANTS REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY 

 

and 

 

TOWN OF WOLFVILLE 

 

and 

 

GLOOSCAP FIRST NATION 

 

Collectively the Parties 

 

WHEREAS the Parties have received and reviewed a presentation dated December 15, 2020 

entitled “Updating of Shared Service Agreements and Municipal Corporations” (the 

“Presentation”) and wish to implement the work plan as outlined in the Presentation.  

 

The Parties agree as follows: 

 



2 

 

1. Each party agrees in principle to the recommendations contained within the Presentation. 

 

2. The Parties agree to form a Working Group, comprising the Mayors and the Chief (or 

designates) of the Parties, and the CAOs, Band Manager (or their designates).  

 

3. The Working Group will review the existing Intermunicipal Service Agreements 

(IMSAs) referenced in the Presentation and, for each IMSA, prepare either recommended 

amendments to the IMSA or a new draft ISMA to replace the existing ISMA. 

 

4. In addition to the existing IMSAs, the Working Group will also prepare IMSAs for only 

additional services that may be offered by shared service organizations composed of 

some or all of the parties, including but not limited to IMSAs for climate change and 

diversity.   

 

5. The recommendations of the Working Group will include standard provisions to be 

common to all IMSAs and IMSA provisions specific to the individual IMSAs under 

consideration.  

 

6. The Working Group will provide recommendations for incremental supports to the 

shared service organizations referenced in the Presentation.  

 

7. The Working Group may authorize one the Parties to contract on its behalf for services 

described in provision 8 of this Memorandum. 

 

8. The Working Group is authorized to retain legal counsel and any other third-party 

resources as the Working Group considers necessary to complete its work.  

 

9. The parties agree that the costs incurred by the Working Group will be paid from funds 

held by the Municipality of the County of Kings that are related to a modernization 

initiative entered into by the parties to this MOU in March of 2018. 

 

10. The Working Group will complete its work and have updated IMSAs prepared for the 

parties’ review and consideration by June 30, 2021, or such later date as the Working 

Group considers necessary in order to properly complete its work.  

 

11. This MOU may be signed in counterpart by the parties. 

 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered ) TOWN OF ANNAPOLIS ROYAL 

in the presence of  ) 

 ) 

 )   

 ) Mayor 

 ) 

  )   

 ) CAO 



3 

 

 ) 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered ) TOWN OF BERWICK 

in the presence of  ) 

 ) 

 )   

 ) Mayor 

 ) 

  )   

 ) CAO 

 ) 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered ) TOWN OF KENTVILLE 

in the presence of  ) 

 ) 

 )   

 ) Mayor 

 ) 

  )   

 ) CAO 

 ) 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered ) MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY  

in the presence of ) OF KINGS 

 ) 

 )   

 ) Mayor 

 ) 

  )   

 ) CAO 

 ) 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered ) TOWN OF MIDDLETON 

in the presence of  ) 

 ) 

 )   

 ) Mayor 

 ) 

  )   

 ) CAO 

 ) 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered ) WEST HANTS REGIONAL  

in the presence of ) MUNICIPALITY 

 ) 

 )   



4 

 

 ) Mayor 

 ) 

  )   

 ) CAO 

 ) 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered ) TOWN OF WOLFVILLE 

in the presence of  ) 

 ) 

 )   

 ) Mayor 

 ) 

  )   

 ) CAO 

 ) 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered ) GLOOSCAP FIRST NATION 

in the presence of  ) 

 ) 

 )   

 ) Chief 

 ) 

  )   

 ) Band Manager 

 ) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
S:\CThompson\Town of Wolfville\General - 2020 - CAT-1049\Documents\IMSA Agreement - Draft.docx 



 

 

 

 

 



 

December 8, 2020 



 



 



 

Dec 8th 



 

 



 



 



 

 

   

  

   

   

   

   

   

   



 

  

  



 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 



 

   

   



 

  

  



 

December 

3rd 

8th 

11th 

17th 

 

CAO SELECTION 
Several meetings to interview candidates for 

CAO position.  

Investment Advisory 

Committee 
 

   

   

Dec 22 Special Council Meeting  

   

  

  



 

  

  



Councilor Report 
Kentville Town Council 

 

Name:  Sandra Snow 

Date: 25 January 2021 

Date of Last Council Meeting Attended:  30 November 2020 
Date of Last Council Advisory Meeting 
Attended:  11 January 2021 

Date of Last Governance Session Attended: N/A 

Committee Meeting Attendance and Synopsis 
Date Committee Synopsis 

26 Nov 20 Valley Region REAP 

The Valley Region Regional 
Entrepreneurship Acceleration Program 
(REAP) met for initial introductions, the 
team is composed of Lisa Jenereaux, 
Louis Coutinho, Andrew Schnare, Burnell 
Lyons, Jason Clarke, Dale Keefe, Stephen 
Shaw, Lens Ells, Sandra Snow and 
Richelle Brown-Redden 

26 Nov 20 MFC Municipal Finance Corporation Board 
Meeting 

26 Nov 20 VREN Taskforce 
Valley Regional Entreprise Regional 
Economic Taskforce – Act LOCAL initiative 
has been launched 

26 Nov 20 VREN Board Meeting VREN Monthly Board Meeting 

30 Nov 20 MIT REAP Nova Scotia All teams meeting 

30 Nov 20 Council Meeting 

Recommendations from CAC: General 
Insurance Recommendation; 
Special Events Bylaw – Covid-19 
Adjustments; 
Special Events Bylaw – Increased Events 
Valley Waste Bylaw; and 
Fire Inspection Service Agreement with 
County of Kings. 
New Business: 2021 Calendar of Council 
and CAC Meetings. 

3 Dec 20 CAO Selection Committee First interview with candidates 

4 Dec 20 Police Commission Special presentation by the Dept Justice 
on the role of the Police Commission. 



Councilor Report 
Kentville Town Council 

 

7 Dec 20 NSFM Board Initial meeting of the newly elected NSFM 
Board of Directors 

8 Dec 20 CAO Selection Committee Second interview with candidates 

10 Dec 20 Kings Regional Emergency 
Measures Organization 

REMO presentation to new members of 
council.  Included a briefing from 
Provincial representative. 

10 Dec 20 VREN Taskforce 
Valley Regional Entreprise Regional 
Economic Taskforce – Act LOCAL initiative 
update 

10 Dec 20 Kings County Mayors Update from the president of Acadia 
University. 

11 Dec 20 CAO Selection Committee Candidate offer preview 

14 Dec 20 Kings County Mayors Initial IMSA Meeting 

14 Dec 20 Council Advisory Committee 

Two presentations: Valley Regional 
Enterprise Network Quarterly Report and  
Kentville Historical Society   
New Business: Municipal Energy Learning 
Group Recommendations 
Regional Climate Action Plan – Partners in 
Climate Progress 

16 Dec 20 Valley Waste Committee Budget discussion 

17 Dec 20 CAO Selection Committee Candidate offer discussion 

18 Dec 20 Kings County Joint Council 
Meeting Four councils met to discuss IMSA 

22 Dec 20 Asset Management Final cohort meeting for the Asset 
Management program 

22 Dec 20 Special Council Meeting Meet the candidate 

4 Jan 21 NSFM Board Special Meeting to discuss the Affordable 
Housing Commission 

6 Jan 21 Quality of Life LLT 
Launch of Me to You initiative – sending 
notes to friends and neighbours to get 
through the winter. (see attached) 



Councilor Report 
Kentville Town Council 

 

11 Jan 21 CAC Meeting Review CAO-Mayor review of agenda and 
meeting flow 

11 Jan 21 CAC Meeting 

Unfinished business: Bylaw Revision - 
Noise Bylaw;  
Policy Revision - G39 Council and Staff 
Long Service Awards Policy; and 
Municipal Energy Leaders Group 
Recommendations to the Province. 
New Business: Catalyst Consulting 
Engineers Rezoning Application; and  
Intermunicipal Service Agreement 
Review, Memorandum of Understanding. 
In-Camera: two property matters. 

14 Jan 21 VREN LOC Chair 

Meeting with Acadia University between 
LOC Chair, VREN Board Chair, VREN CEO 
and Acadia U chair and communications 
with regards to how we can collaborate 
on economic growth in our area 

14 Jan 21 VREN Taskforce 
Discussion on holiday retail in the area 
and the impact of the COVID cases in 
Berwick 

18 Jan 21 Kings REMO Quarterly update and election of Chair 

20 Jan 21 Valley Waste Monthly Board Meeting - alternate 

Town of Kentville Event Attendance and Synopsis 
Date Event Synopsis 

12 Dec 20 Lions Breakfast 
Well attended despite the COVID 19 
limitations.  Full precautions were in 
effect.  Both our local MP and MLA were 
on hand. 

Conference Attendance and Synopsis 
Date Conference Synopsis 

2 Dec 20 NSFM AGM 2020 Meeting was held virtually with a fair 
turnout. 

2 Dec 20 NSFM Town Caucus Meeting Virtual election of caucus, I am one of the 
Town Representatives on the NSFM Board 

13 Jan 21 Valley Waste Orientation Morning tour of the Valley Waste facility 
including Scotia Recycling, afternoon 



Councilor Report 
Kentville Town Council 

 

presentations at the Al Whittle Theatre on 
the operation 

14 Jan 21 MIT REAP Program 
Program Launch including registration 
with MIT and pre-launch homework and 
video 

Misc Events 
Date Synopsis 

27 Nov 20 Met with Noel Tianney at the Miners Landing site 

27 Nov 20 Attended the virtual launch of the Flower Cart Group’s Building 
Opportunities fundraising campaign 

18 Dec 20 Breakfast Meeting with Deputy Mayor 

21 Dec 20 AIM Network Asset Management Interview with Donna Chiarelli from Planet 
A Consulting (see attached) 

24 Dec 20 Out of Office until 4 January 2021 

7 Jan 21 Conversation with Jeremy Lutes energy efficiency 

11 Jan 21 New computer and phone upgrade 

15 Jan 21 Interview with Connie Boland of Saltwire 

19 Jan 21 Attend NKEC Grade 9 Citizenship Class via zoom – Municipal Government 
presentation 

19 Jan 21 Conversation with Jason White re: Stonemont application 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 The Toolkit 
 
 
 

 
 

Thank you for being a part of From Me to You. This Toolkit will give you everything you need to 
participate in, or tell people about, the initiative. Through your efforts and many others across the 
province, the momentum for this initiative will continue to grow.  
 
What is From Me to You?: From Me to You is a chance to build connections this winter. It is a 
provincewide initiative that invites any person or organization to take part by writing or drawing a 
note to someone in their community - a person they know or haven’t met yet - and to leave that note 
somewhere to be found, like on a doorstep, at a coffee shop, or on the bus. 
 
Timeline: From now until the snow melts (in general), but it will continue for as long as people are 
writing and drawing notes to one another. 
 
How to use The Toolkit:  
Incorporate From Me to You as part of the work that you’re already doing. Draw on what to include in 
social media posts to create your own. Include the newsletter blurb in your next newsletter to your 
network. Check out the folder on Google Drive that has graphics ready for social media platforms as 
well as the building blocks to make your own (e.g., a graphic of what a note can say that you fill in). 
 
How to participate in From Me to You:  

● Send a note card: 
○ Print them from our website, ask us to send you ones that we’ve designed and printed, 

or use your own and what you have on hand.  
○ Make it a team-building activity with your co-workers, do it with a group of people you 

know, or through a volunteer organization. 
● Spread the word:  

○ Share the initiative on social media 
○ Talk to the people in your life about it 
○ Email your networks 

● Partner with us: 
○ Please talk with us about how your business or organization would like to take part 

beyond sharing the initiative with your networks and on social media.  
 



What to include in social media posts: 
● Write or draw a note to someone in your community – someone you know or haven’t met yet 
● Share the note – [insert ideas for places e.g., on a doorstep, with your neighbour, at the coffee 

shop, on a bus] 
● Ask Engage to get note cards to you, download them online, or use what you have on hand 
● We can never know the impacts that small gestures of thoughtfulness can have on any given day 
● From Me to You is an opportunity for each of us to uplift someone else – and to do it altogether 
● Any person or organization across the province can take part by writing or drawing note cards 
● Social connections are important for our wellbeing 
● Isolation since COVID-19 has been difficult and the winter months can be particularly challenging 

for peoples’ mental health 
 
The ‘call to action,’ or what we’re asking followers to do, is send a note card by using the language of 
‘Send your own.’ On platforms that use hashtags, we encourage: #FromMeToYou and #SendYourOwn. 
Consider sharing photos of you preparing a note or a picture of one you received. If sharing photos on 
Instagram, please consider using image descriptions in the captions. 
 
Social media graphics and other materials: We’ve included samples and building blocks of social 
media graphics for Instagram, Twitter, Facebook, and LinkedIn platforms in this Google Drive folder. 
The folder also includes other materials that are accessible from the From Me to You webpage, like 
the poster and note cards you can print yourself. Let us know if you would like to receive posters and 
note cards that we’ve printed - just tell us how many and we’ll get them to you.  
 
What to include in a newsletter: 
Engage Nova Scotia invites you to take part in From Me to You this winter by writing or drawing a note 
of appreciation to someone in your community – someone you know or haven’t met yet. Get a note 
card from Engage or use what you have on hand and then leave the note somewhere – a doorstep, 
coffee shop, bus, windshield… If your business or organization is interested in supporting From Me to 
You, please let us know how you’d like to do that - visit www.engagenovascotia.ca.   
 
What else?: If there are assets for social media you’d like us to make or any ideas you have to 
improve this toolkit, please email: chart@engagenovascotia.ca and we’ll include them here. 
 
Contact information: 
Catherine Hart 
Communications and Project Specialist 
Engage Nova Scotia 
chart@engagenovascotia.ca 
902-809-9947 
 
 

 

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1CuXoxPrT0l2gCjKLQXfH1Sp9-H-41b8x?usp=sharing
http://www.engagenovascotia.ca/
mailto:chart@engagenovascotia.ca
mailto:chart@engagenovascotia.ca


� � �� � � �� � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � �
� � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � �
� � � � � � � �� � �� � � � � �� � � � � � � � � � ��� �� � �� � � �� � � � � � �

aim
network

news
        

If you asked Robert Stacey five years ago whether he would eventual-
ly be working for the small Town of Holyrood, Newfoundland, he 
would have looked at you in disbelief and wondered where the 
question was coming from.  Until just a couple of years ago, Stacey 
had spent 23 years working as a production manager in the fast-paced 
environment of the private sector at a structural steel fabrication facili-
ty called Metal World.  A civil engineering technologist by training, he 
was responsible for ensuring that the factory was running smoothly to 
keep a steady stream of projects coming off the line.
 Stacey thought for sure he would retire at Metal World, but 
his life changed unexpectedly when he and the whole management 
team was shuffled out the door after it was bought out by a larger 
company.  Never in his wildest dreams had he imagined moving to a 
job in local government. 
 Stacey’s initial misfortune from losing his job at Metal World 
may be one of the best things that could have happened to the Town of 

Holyrood, because he joined them in a new role for the Town as its 
director of Infrastructure and Public Works.  Since he arrived on the 
scene he’s been using his skills to drive change for the better in how 
the Town operates, and he has become a champion of the Town’s 
formalization of asset management.  
 Holyrood is a small community of 2,400 residents located 
about a 25-minute drive away from St. John’s and like most small 
communities in the province, it didn’t have a formal asset manage-
ment system in place before Stacey came on board. At that time, the 
Public Works department focused mostly on day-to-day work and was 
quite reactive in its approach.  The Town then changed the focus of the 
role of the director of Infrastructure and Public Works when Stacey 
was hired because senior management recognized the need for more 
proactive planning. Stacey spends 90% of his time in the office doing 
just that. 
 Stacey’s recommendation to Council that the Town join AIM 
Network’s asset management cohort program came from his insight 
and experience as the plant manager for Metal World. While there he 
had managed all the assets in the facility, including the equipment, 
tools and the building itself. Over the years he had put in place a 
preventive maintenance program for their assets that examined when 
it was appropriate to repair or replace them. The process didn`t happen 
overnight, and he understood that this approach was exactly what the 
Town was missing in managing its own assets.

Wint�
2021

Asset Management Champion
is just what the doctor ordered

Holyr�d’sthe town of

Source: Town of Holyrood

The town of holyrood’s 
beautiful coastal beach



AIM Network News is a quarterly newsletter of the Atlantic Infrastructure Management Network, produced with 
support from the Federation of Canadian Municipalities and Government of Canada.

5
7

3
The Town of Kentville Learns that Borrowing is Less Scary with 
Asset Management

Apply Now for AIM Network’s Asset Management Program for 
New Brunswick

Are you Ready for Asset Management? Apply for Direct Funding 
from the Federation of Canadian Municipalities Municipal Asset 
Management Program

issue  

iN 
This 

 Stacey is now putting the same systems in place that he 
used at Metal World. When he started working for the Town there 
was no formal documentation system or process to manage the 
assets’ condition or work history. He spent the bulk of last winter 
pulling data together and organizing it into a useable format. 
Even before joining the cohort program, Stacey worked with the 
Finance department to revamp the Town’s purchase order system 
for their vehicle fleet so that the work 
done on every vehicle was document-
ed. They can now see more clearly 
when it’s time to replace as opposed to 
repair. For example, they can now see 
if they have a vehicle with a book 
value of only $5,000 that needs 
$10,000 a year to be kept on the road, 
which may not be the best value for 
the community.    
 Stacey knows that asset 
management is an ongoing process 
and it takes many years to implement 
a fully functional system. He felt that 
a good place to start in Holyrood was 
with their water system, which he 
sees as their biggest challenge. The 
public works department has been 
continuously chasing water leaks and 
last summer they were on the cusp of 
having a water shortage. Stacey 
light-heartedly admits that like him, the system is starting to get a 
little grey around the edges as most of it was put in the ground 
around 1970.  He wanted to be able to be more proactive about 
how to maintain and rehabilitate the system. 
 The Town has now completed the cohort program and 
they have a good sense of the actions that will be needed over the 
next couple of decades to sustain their water service delivery.  
The big shock came when they put all the data together and 
looked at the risks to the system. It has become apparent that the 
largest section of the system will need to be replaced within the 

next 10 to 20 years at a cost of about $40M. That’s a lot of cash 
for a small community.  The AIM Network technical staff 
concluded that they should be setting aside $350,000 a year in 
reserves to stay on top of the system. Stacey thought to himself 
that this would be impossible. The total annual budget for the 
Town is only $4.2M and this was only one of the services they 
need to sustain. Stacey knows the problem is real though, and 

he’s taking the approach that he’s going 
to have to think very strategically so 
that he can move forward in incre-
ments, taking advantage of every 
possible provincial and federal funding 
source. 
  Fortunately, the Holyrood 
Town Council has known for awhile 
that a forensic investigation of their 
infrastructure needed to be done but 
until Stacey joined the team there was 
no one to lead the process. Council has 
welcomed with open arms the work 
they are doing on asset management 
and are prepared to develop a 
long-term plan. Stacey’s top recom-
mendation will be for Council to focus 
on maintaining the infrastructure they 
already have. Because the Town has 
been growing modestly and is an 
expansive community with a large land 

base, they had already completed two watermain extensions 
before Stacey arrived.  
  What Stacey likes the most about his move 
from the private sector to local government is that he gets the 
sense that he’s helping to improve the lives of the people of Holy-
rood every day. He also appreciates the more relaxed environ-
ment and the fact that he has the time to schedule, plan and think 
about asset management and where they need to be 20 years from 
now.  The Town is not going anywhere, and lucky for Council, 
neither is he. 

2

>>>

Robert Stacey, 
Director of Infrastructure And Public Works, 

Town of Holyrood



3

The Town of Kentville is a prosperous community nestled in the 
Annapolis Valley. Located in the heart of Nova Scotia’s flourish-
ing wine producing region, it has a small but growing population 
of 6,271 according to 2016 census data. Mayor Sandra Snow is 
curious to learn exactly how much growth the 2020 census will 
reveal.  She thinks it’s significant.  
 Snow beams with pride as she chats about the good 
fortune of her town. Recently elected to her second term as mayor 
last October, she comes across as a leader with vision combined 
with good sense and a genu-
ine caring for her communi-
ty.  One of her goals is to be 
able to say with confidence 
to the Town’s biggest demo-
graphic, the 25-30-year olds, 
that there will be financial 
stability there when they 
retire, that property taxes 
rates won’t get out of 
control.  What is giving 
Snow that confidence is 
asset management.  The 
progress they’re making 
with the support of AIM 
Network’s cohort program is 
helping Council and staff to 
plan and manage its finances 
in a way that will not lead to 
any long-term debt, even if 
that means borrowing now 
to save money in the long 
run.
 Kentville Council 
made some savvy financial 
and planning decisions 
before they started to 
formally adopt an asset 
management program, so 
the Town is starting its asset 
management journey on 
solid financial ground. One 
of those decisions was to 
change the zoning of a 
four-acre parcel of land on 
the east side of town to allow for the construction of four new 
rental apartment buildings. Kentville simply had no other housing 
options besides the standard single-family homes that character-
ize small town, rural living. The new apartments are adding 

flexibility to their housing market, serving a good cross section of 
people ranging from the older generation wanting to downsize in 
town, to younger people not interested in buying or ready to buy 
a home. The development will have around 200 units when 
completed and demand is already meeting or outpacing the 
supply. The beautiful location beside a trail system and natural 
area no doubt adds to the appeal.  
 What Snow is most proud of about this planning 
decision is that at the end of the day, it was a pure tax gain for the 

town because the Town is 
not required to pay for or 
maintain any new 
infrastructure associated 
with the development. It 
was built with a private 
entrance and the Town 
provided the lateral system 
off the Town water and 
sanitary sewer systems. 
Those systems and the 
road entrance will be 
required to be maintained 
by the developer.  With 
only the first building built 
so far, last year the Town’s 
tax base increased by 5% 
with no tax rate increase 
for residents. It was a net 
win for the town.  It was 
also a win for pension plan 
investors, who invested in 
this development for the 
likely reason that it meets 
the social, environmental 
and governance goals of 
the fund’s investments. 
 On the finance side, 
Kentville’s wisdom came 
from selling its electric 
utility to Nova Scotia 
power back in the 1990s, 
leaving the Town with 
$10M in capital that by 
legislation has to be kept 

in the bank to work for them. The annual interest and dividends 
from the capital lowers the tax rate they would otherwise need to 
charge by 10 cents. The Town also has good reserves. For exam-
ple, they already have over $700,000 in reserve for their water 

Kentville’s Centre Square is a focal point where people gather 
for events and the local farmer’s market.

3

The Town of                   Has Learned that Borrowing 
Is Less Scary with Asset Management 

Kentvi�e

Source: Town of Kentville



          (Continued from Page 3)  system alone. Their goal is to 
keep their borrowing under 10% of the annual operating 
revenue.
 When asked whether the work the Town is doing on 
asset management is worth the resources, time and effort given 
the Town is already doing quite well, Snow’s answer was a 
resounding yes. 
 She and staff completed the cohort program in 
December, which she says has validated all the decisions 
they’ve made while also showing them how to do better. 
Perhaps that biggest insight she’s gained is that she’ll have the 
knowledge needed to inform when and why to support borrow-
ing funds, a decision Council would have avoided whenever 
possible before asset management.
 She gave the example of a decision about renewing 
the water infrastructure in one of their sub-divisions that was 
built in the 1930s. They had had several watermain breaks there 
and their five-year plan called for $2M worth of infrastructure 
upgrades in 2017. At that time they were waiting for funding 
from the federal government that didn’t arrive. When the 
money did become available in 2018, the province didn’t have 
its share ready so the federal government couldn’t release its 
funds. Without the funding in hand, Council deferred the 
project both times.  
 Snow says that asset management is now showing 
them clearly that there’s a significant cost to deferral. With 
more insight about the age, condition of and risks to their 
infrastructure, they can see how much money they’ll need over 
the next 25 years to fix the things that need to be fixed at the 
right time. As a Council, they’ll have the confidence to be able 
to say when it’s the year they need to borrow $2M if they have 
the capacity to do it, knowing it’s an investment in the future 
that will save residents money in the long run. That’s a huge 
eye opener and very empowering. Snow jokes that of course 
they still want and need the money from the federal and provin-
cial governments to better serve the community, but asset 

management is demonstrating when it’s wise to proceed with 
some projects even if that money isn’t forthcoming.  
 Snow says that significant investment is needed to get 
their transportation system where they want it to be, because 
they need to fix and upgrade roads, sidewalks and active trans-
portation infrastructure and ensure that the work meets today’s 
accessibility standards. They need a plan for that too. She is 
now working with a new Council elected in October 2020 that 
has three new councillors out of a total of seven. She aims to be 
the asset management champion that will get the rest of Coun-
cil on board at a strategic level related to the Town’s capital 
expenditure plan. Kentville’s new engineering director is the 
staff champion of all this work and together they are building a 
solid team.  
 Snow’s final comment is that to her, asset manage-
ment is very exciting. The community understands that there’s 
a cost to infrastructure but it’s Council’s job to inform the 
public about what that means. She envisions the Town doing 
lunch and learns for people to learn about this and sees strong 
linkages with other strategic objectives, like environmental 
stewardship. The day of her interview for this newsletter, the 
cover story in her morning newspaper focused on what the 
pandemic relief spending was going to cost a newborn, and it 
was a pretty penny. It motivates her to steer the Town in the 
right direction towards ensuring that its decisions won’t be 
adding any unnecessary debt to future generations.  

>>>

4

Sandra Snow, 
Mayor of Kentville, NS



The Province of New Brunswick is expected to issue Phase 2 Asset 
Management Requirements for municipalities soon.  It is anticipated 
Phase 2 requirements will include the following outcomes:

 (a) Establish link between Asset management policy and other  
 organizational governing documents
 (b) Council endorsement of AM Policy and maintaining 
 currency
 (c) Linking asset management planning and budgets
 (d) Defining acceptable levels of service delivery
 (e) Identifying performance measures
 (f) Climate Change:  Evaluating climate change vulnerabilities
 (g) Identifying GHG reduction opportunities
 (h) Condition assessment policy
 (i) Risk evaluation process
 (j) Risk mitigation and adaptation strategies for high risk assets 
 (k) State of infrastructure based on condition and performance
 (l) Cost analysis for existing and planned assets over 50 years
 (m) Cash flow forecast for all assets
 (n) Identify funding sources (10-year focus)
 (o) Cashflow forecast assumptions
 (p) Strategy for managing funding gaps
 (q) Prioritization of investments through good asset 
 management practices

AIM Network is offering a series of online workshops to address the 
expected outcomes of the Phase 2 requirements.  Workshops in this 
offering (Module One) addresses Outcomes a – j on the above list and 
will take place February – June 2021.   (Module Two addresses 
Outcomes k – q above and will be a separate offering planned for Fall 
2021 – June 2022.)

Asset Management Program 
for New Brunswick   

TOTAL PROGRAM:   $1,900 + HST      PER WORKSHOP:   $395 + HST

•  Unlimited participants per municipality
•  Workshop materials, templates, and tools.
•  For municipalities participating in all 5 workshops: Individual munici-
pality technical support following workshops to assist with completing 
workshop activities (up to 2 hrs. per w/s).

Note:  Municipalities may use their Gas Tax Funds for this Program.

Participating municipalities will learn and ‘do’ asset management using 
their own data and information. Qualified facilitators will lead the 
workshops. See Page 2 for a description of each workshop and deliverables.

Worksheets and templates will be provided for all activities.  The activities 
completed through each workshop are designed to align with the Province 
of New Brunswick expected outcomes.

A municipality is encouraged to include multiple participants in each 
workshop to ensure learning and participation takes place across the 
organization.  

A municipality may register for any of or all 5 workshops. (Note:  Munici-
palities participating in the full Program will benefit from up to 
10 hours of additional technical support at no additional cost as 
well as continuity, consistency and integration within their AM 
program activities.) Capacity for each workshop will be limited with 
priority given to those registering for the complete program. 

If your municipality is interested in participating in the program, 
please complete the linked Expression of Interest form above and 

return it to dfoster@aimnetwork.ca before January 25, 2021 or 
contact Daisy Foster at (902) 412-3328 or  

by email to dfoster@aimnetwork.ca.

WORKSHOP SERIES A SERIES B

1. Levels of Service Part 1
2. Levels of Service Part 2
3. Climate Adaptation in Asset Management
4. Climate Mitigation in Asset Management
5. Prioritizing by Risk

February 19, 2021
March 19, 2021
April 16, 2021
May 21, 2021
June 4, 2021

February 24, 2021
March 24, 2021
April 28, 2021
May 26, 2021
June 11, 2021

5

workshop topics and dates

our approach

registration fee / municipality

apply by january 25th    

• Module 1 •

www.AIM Network.ca/interest** **

Continued on Next Page   >>>

https://www.aimnetwork.ca/interest


                                 Levels of Service Part 1  

Review/update AM Policy; Align Organizational Guidance 
Objectives to Asset Management and Budgeting; Document 
services provided with a direct link between service and key 
infrastructure/assets.

Deliverables: Each municipality will produce:
•  A new or updated AM Policy for your municipality
•  A flow chart linking processes within your municipality from 
Asset Management Policy through to budgeting.
•  A list of services currently provided by your municipality 
linked to the infrastructure relied on to provide each service.

                                    Levels of Service Part 2

Review and refine performance measures for all services 
provided by your municipality; Define acceptable level of 
service for each service your municipality provides; Identify 
gaps in service levels; Integrate Climate change considerations 
as sustainability gaps with timeframes and life cycle costs; 
Summarize and prioritize service gaps.

Deliverables - Each municipality will produce:
•  Level of Service report with defined performance measures 
and indicators, target levels of service and gaps, action plan to 
address current and future gaps.

                                 Integrating Climate Adaptation

Assess services and infrastructure for climate vulnerability; Prioritize 
and document adaptation options using risk, level of service, cost of 
doing nothing and adaptation cost using a climate adaptation 
worksheet.

Deliverables - Each municipality will provide a summary of: 
•  Climate change effects and impacts.
•   At-risk services and infrastructure.
•  Prioritized list of adaptation projects.

                    Risk and Prioritization

Understanding risk; Risk assessment process; Impacts of probability 
and consequence of failure (PoF and CoF) on asset management; 
Incorporating risk into capital decisions; Case studies on risk impacts 
on planning and budgeting

Deliverables - Each municipality will develop: 
•  Consequence of Failure assessment matrix
•  Risk tolerance profile and policy statement
•  Documented risk evaluation process

What will your municipality learn and do through Module 1?

Policy, Services, Climate Change and Risk            

 Current Offering: February – June 2021

                                  Integrating Climate Mitigation

Outline benefits of reducing GHG emissions; Identify current direct 
GHG emission sources; Identify reduction targets and opportunities; 
Prioritize mitigation opportunities.

Deliverables - Each municipality will produce a summary of: 
•  Mitigation targets and opportunities
•  Action plan for implementing mitigation activities

6

Workshop 1 :

Workshop 2 :

Workshop 3 :

Workshop 4 :

Workshop 5 :



Are you Ready for A�et Management?

Step
1

Simply send an email with your contact informa-
tion to dfoster@aimnetwork.ca with Expres-
sion of Interest in Asset Management in the 
subject line and we`ll start the conversation there. 

The Federation of Canadian Municipalities Municipal Asset Management Program provides grants of up to $50,000 to municipalities to cover 
80 – 90% of eligible costs for an Asset Management Program:  https://fcm.ca/en/programs/municipal-asset-management-program

Introduction to Asset Management and Prepare an AM Policy: AIM Network will facilitate a workshop for Council and 
senior staff that provides an overview of asset management and how it will benefit the Town.  At this introductory session, you 
will prepare an Asset Management Policy using AIMNet templates to guide decision-making on municipal services and 
infrastructure renewal and replacement.  

Then we will get started on your infrastructure planning.

How do I start?

Typical Workplan for a Municipality Ge�ing Started

Now is the time to prepare an application to take advantage of this wonderful opportunity to make progress, whether that is by preparing an 
inventory of your assets or by getting started on long-term capital planning.   
. 

 1. We do not have a good understanding of where to start with an asset management program; or  
 2. Our staff just do not have time to work through the application process.  

Our sole mandate is to support municipalities in Atlantic Canada with a�et management.  

AIM Network has assisted more than 50 municipalities in Atlantic Canada to prepare and submit successful applications to build capacity 
within their organization to develop an asset management program aligned with their municipality`s goals for its services and infrastructure. 

Complete an inventory of all major assets including sewer, roads, storm, trails, parks and municipal-owned buildings 
and structures in spreadsheet and GIS
(A) Obtain data, capture and verify linear assets (roads, sewer, storm and trails) and provide data in Excel spreadsheet format. 
(B) AIM Network can manage data collection and provide quality control and quality assurance on the data if you have 
existing data or have a data collection contactor you would like to work with. Alternately, AIM Network can manage the data 
collection from start to finish by one of our associated data collection contractors familiar with the AIMNet Solution. 
(C) Set up datasets in GIS system including base maps and asset layers for linear assets.  Provide all data in an easy-to-use 
format to enable town staff to view and query. 

Undertake Condition Assessments on all Town Infrastructure.
(A) Calculate remaining life, condition and replacement cost for linear assets based on age using the standard costs and 
expected useful life in the AIMNet Solution toolkit.  
(B) Undertake a condition assessment of all major buildings and structures to calculate remaining life, condition and replace-
ment cost using the AIMNet Solution facility inventory tool.   

Step
2

Assist with drafting the application and supporting documents

Support with program execution from kickoff through to drafting 
the final report for submission to FCM at the end of the project

Help tailor your program to what you need so that follow up activities 
are defined to fit your priority areas of asset management   
planning 

Step
3

Our Services:
•
•
•

* *

aim network  can help YOU!

FCM Accepting Applications in January 2021

Don`t let these common barriers hold your municipality back: 

7Continued on Next Page   

https://fcm.ca/en/programs/municipal-asset-management-program


This newsletter is provided with support of  the Municipal Asset Management 
Program which is delivered through the Federation of Canadian Municipalities 

and funded by the Government of Canada.

Daisy Foster,
 MANAGING DIRECTOR, AIM NETWORK

dfoster@aimnetwork.ca

Donna Chiarelli
 WRITER AND EDITOR

donna@planetaconsulting.ca

Jeffrey Elliott
GRAPHIC DESIGN

jeffreythomaselliott@gmail.com

At the end of the process, you will have:

1.  A sound grounding in principles of asset management planning.
2.  Tools, graphs, and data to educate elected officials and residents on the 
challenges and solutions with service delivery in your municipality.
3.  GIS Maps of linear assets showing infrastructure location, probability 
of failure, consequence of failure and risk.
4.  A spreadsheet catalogue of facilities containing all major building 
components.
5.  An Asset Management Policy ready for Council ratification.
6.  A level of service report showing current and future gaps in community 
service levels along with a scheduled plan to address those gaps,
7.  A prioritized list of infrastructure renewal and replacement projects 
based on policy, service levels, interaction of assets with one another, 
climate vulnerability and risk.
8.  A 5-year capital program based on 20-year annualized infrastructure 
demands with specific projects, rationale for selecting these projects, 
assessment of potential funding opportunities and a pro-forma budget 
basis for the Program.
9.  A collated Asset Management Program with all Project deliverables 
and mapping.

This varies by size of municipality and amount of 
infrastructure. Typical direct costs to municipalities are:
 
$5000 or le�: For municipalities with populations less 
than 1000 or those collaborating with another town in your 
region. The FCM grant provides 90% of total project costs 
up to a maximum of $50,000. 

$8000-$10000: For municipalities with populations 
greater than 1000 and not participating in a collaborative 
application process. In this case, the FCM grant covers 
80% of total project costs up to a maximum of $50,000. 

Contact Daisy Foster, Managing Director of AIM Network 
at dfoster@aimnetwork.ca with Expression of Interest in 
Asset Management in the subject line to get started. 

 

Prepare State of Infrastructure Reports and a Preliminary Capital Program
(A) A Preliminary State of Infrastructure Report (P-SOIR) with condition, remaining useful life expectancy, replacement 
cost and reserve requirements will be generated for each major asset group. This P-SOIR will present information in table 
and graph formats summarizing the Town’s major assets in a format that can be easily understood. 
(B) Prioritize projects based on risk and level of service with input from Council and Staff to generate a Refined State of 
Infrastructure Report to support capital planning budgets
(C) Prepare a Preliminary 5-year Capital Program including individual projects for Council consideration.
(D) Prepare 20-year projections based on estimated annual capital requirements for infrastructure renewal and replacement.

Conduct a Project Wrap-up Workshop for Council to present the project deliverables and to discuss findings and next 
steps in asset management planning.

Town staff undertake a training session that familiarizes them with their own data and information contained in the Excel 
spreadsheets and the GIS system. This will enable them to update and maintain it following the project as capital projects are 
completed and infrastructure is added or decommissioned.   

Step
4

Step
5

Step
6

The Deliverables How Much Wi� This Cost Our Town?$$



• 

• 

• 

• 



• 

o 

o 

o 

o 

• 

o 

• 

o 

o 

o 









 



⚫ Page 1  

 
Memo  
To:     Brian Smith, Interim CAO 
 
From: Debra Crowell, Director of Finance, On Behalf of the Investment Advisory Committee 
 
Date:  January 25, 2021 
 
Re: REVISIONS TO SPECIAL PERPETUAL RESERVE FUND INVESTMENT POLICY 
 

BACKGROUND 

 

The Special Perpetual Fund is guided by Policy Statement G26 and it is overseen by 

an Investment Advisory Committee (IAC) comprised of Council members, citizen 

appointees and staff.  The Investment Policy Statement was first developed in 1999 

by IAC members with input from Department of Municipal Affairs and Nova Scotia Municipal 

Finance Corporation. Once complete, it was ratified by Town Council and approved by the 

Minister for Municipal Affairs for the Province of Nova Scotia. 

 

The Investment Policy Statement (IPS) provides guidelines and restrictions on what 

can and cannot be done in relation to market investment.  More importantly, it reflects the 

goals of the fund and how they are to be achieved in a responsible manner.  Over the 

natural course of time, markets evolve, and periodically, the IPS must evolve with them.  

Now is one of those times. 

 

The current IPS has placed significant emphasis on fixed income investments with an 

original goal of limiting equity market exposure.  This was quite appropriate when interest 

rates were high enough to meet our goals.  However, interest rates have declined 

considerably and are not likely to meaningfully increase for quite some time.   

 

Therefore, the Investment Advisory Committee is proposing amendments to the IPS to  

 

1) reduce the maximum amount of fixed income required 

2) provide for greater flexibility across stocks and bonds and  

3) encourage greater diversification in order to mitigate risk. 



⚫ Page 2  

 

It may be important to note that the goals for the Special Perpetual Reserve Fund are 

NOT changing.  They are ranked in order of importance: 

 

1. Preservation of capital 

2. Liquidity 

3. Competitive return on investments 

 

Attached to this memo is a draft of the suggest changes to the Investment Policy 

Statement.  Items in highlighted in red are to be removed while items highlighted in 

yellow are the additions to the policy statement.  

 

The Investment Advisory Committee met on December 9, 2020 and reviewed these 

changes with the Fund Manager.  At this meeting, a motion was carried by IAC members 

to present the changes to Town Council for its approval and ratification.  Once approved 

by Council, the IPS must be forwarded to the Department of Municipal Affairs for ministerial 

consent. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

On behalf of the Investment Advisory Committee, I bring forward a recommendation to 

Town Council that the revisions to Policy Number G 26 Special Perpetual Reserve 

Fund Investment Policy (as attached) is ratified.  Once approved by Town Council, the 

revision will be forwarded to the Province for ministerial consent. 



 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________________  



 

Appendix A: Portfolio Diversification 
This portfolio diversification requirement was developed through a review of various 
municipal portfolios throughout Nova Scotia, Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia.  

The Town of Kentville’s portfolio shall be diversified in accordance with the following 
requirements: see Appendix B for Approved Investment Institutions and Instruments 
and Appendix C for Clarification of credit rating limits. 

Issuer Portfolio Limit 
Individual Issuer 

Limit 
Credit Rating Limit 

Cash & Equivalents     

Money Market   DBRS of R1 

Existing Bonds 
Maturing >1 Year 

  N/A 

    

Fixed Income Minimum of 50%   

Gov't of Canada 
Bonds 

Maximum of 100%   

Provincial Bonds Maximum of 50%   

Bonds  Minimum of 25%  5% AA 

Bonds   Minimum of 80%  5% A (Low) 

Bonds  Maximum of 20%  5% BBB (Low) 

BB Bonds and Below 0%   

Mutual Funds & ETFs Maximum of 75% 15% Low 

Alternative Debt Maximum of 10% 5% Medium 

    

Equities  Maximum of 50% 4% Med/High 

Canadian Investments Maximum of 100% 4% Med/High 

Non-Canadian 
Investments 

Maximum of 50% 4% Med/High 

Mutual funds & ETFs Maximum of 50% 10% Med/High 

Alternative Equities Maximum of 10% 5% Med/High 

    

Options Covered Calls 4%  

 
Notes: 
 

• Cash & Equivalents, on average, represent a small portion of the overall 
portfolio (typically 10%); however, a maximum of 100% could be held under 
extraordinary circumstances. 

• Equity investments of any industry not to exceed 10%. 

• Equity investments must have had a consistent dividend payout over the 
last three years. 

• Equity investments must have a share price exceeding $5.00 per share 
and a market capitalization of at least $100,000,000.00. 

• Equity investments must have a maximum risk rating of Med/High, 
consisting of a maximum Beta of 1.2 (5-year, from Thompson One) and 



 

30-day average daily value of trading (Average volume x closing share 
price). 

• Equity investments in managed money may have a maximum risk rating of 
Med/High.   

• Portfolio limits and individual issuer limits are in place to limit 
concentration risk and promote diversification.  They are set as original 
purchase price so not to impede successful investments.  If appropriate 
during market declines, additional purchases may be made up to the 
limits, regardless of original purchase price.    



 

•  Appendix C: Clarification of Credit Rating Limits 
 

o Credit Rating System for Individual Fixed income Securities 
Investments with a credit rating of BBB – or higher are considered to be investment 
grade whereas investments with credit ratings below BBB- are considered 
speculative (junk).  
Long Term Debt 
Credit Rating 
Systems 
Investment 
Quality  

Moody’s  Standard and 
Poor’s  

DBRS  Fitch  

Highest Quality  Aaa  AAA  AAA  AAA  

Substantial 
Payment 
Capacity  

Aa1  
Aa2  
Aa3  

AA+  
AA  
AA-  

AA(High)  
AA(Middle)  
AA(Low)  

AA+  
AA  
AA-  

High Payment 
Capacity  

A1  
A2  
A3  

A+  
A 
A-  

A(High)  
A(Middle)  
A(Low)  

A+  
A  
A-  

Adequate 
Payment 
Capacity  

Baa1  
Baa2  
Baa3  

BBB+  
BBB  
BBB-  

BBB(High)  
BBB(Middle)  
BBB(Low)  

BBB+  
BBB  
BBB-  

 
 

o Risk Rating for Managed Fixed Income & Fixed Income 
Alternatives  

Managed products for fixed income and fixed income alternatives may include 
individual securities with risk ratings lower than itemized above in Appendix C, but 
must have an overall risk rating of LOW.   

 

Alternative Debt, i.e. private debt, may have a maximum risk rating of medium 
(MED), but must adhere to the portfolio limits and individual issuer limits in appendix 
A.   

 

 



1 
 

18 January 2021 

 

RE: 2021 African Heritage Month – E-mail Update and 

Resolution 

Background: 

As February is African Heritage Month it is marked with a 
provincial proclamation and produce an educational poster 
that is distributed and displayed in community gathering 
centers, schools, churches, government offices, and 
businesses. 

In these times of heightened awareness of race-based issues, 
having a unified provincial launch will make a bold statement.  

The 2021 African Heritage Month provincial theme, Black 
History Matters: Listen, Learn, Share and Act, recognizes the 
important legacy of people of African Descent and the long-
standing history in the development of Canada.   This theme 
brings focus and increased awareness of racialized issues of a 
community that has overcome great adversity for inclusion in 
all aspects of Society.  It further calls on us to listen, learn, 
share and act to make society a better place.  The theme also 
aligns with the United Nations’ International Decade for 
People of African Descent (DPAD) 2015-2024.  The goal of 
DPAD is to strengthen global cooperation in support of people 
of African descent, increase awareness, and the passage 
towards a presence in all aspects of society.  

Nova Scotia has over 50 historic African Nova Scotian 
communities with a long, deep, and complex history dating 
back over 200 years. African Heritage Month provides us with 
another opportunity to celebrate our culture, legacy, 
achievements, and contributions of our people – past and 
present.  

Resolution: 

Be it resolved that: 

WHEREAS February is recognized internationally as African 
Heritage Month -a time to recognize and salute the many 

Mayor   

Sandra Snow 

354 Main Street 

Kentville, NS 

B4N 1K6

 

 



2 
 

contributions and ongoing achievements of people of African 
Descent all over the world and here in: Town of Kentville in the 
Province of Nova Scotia, we celebrate a time of greater 
understanding.   

WHEREAS we are in the 7th year of the International Decade 
for People of African Descent 

WHEREAS this year’s theme: “Black History Matters: Listen, 
Learn, Share and Act”, recognizes the important legacy of 
people of African Descent and the long-standing history in the 
development of Canada. This theme brings focus and 
increased awareness of racialized issues of a community that 
has overcome great adversity for inclusion in all aspects of 
Society.  

THEREFORE, be it resolved that I, Mayor Sandra Snow do 

hereby proclaim the month of February to be African Heritage 

Month. I encourage residents, businesses, and community 

groups to participate in the activities and celebrations and to 

take the opportunity to reflect on the story of Nova Scotia’s 

vibrant African Nova Scotian Community. 

 

Kindest Regards  

 

 

Sandra Snow, Mayor 

Town of Kentville  



1 
 

18 January 2021 

 

RE: 2021 Census – E-mail Update and Resolution 

Background: 

The next census will take place in May 2021.  Council’s support 
is solicited to increase awareness of the census in Kentville. 

Canadians have relied on census data to tell them about how 
their country is changing and providing socioeconomic trends 
and census analysis to make important decisions that have a 
direct impact on our families, neighbourhoods and businesses.   

Statistics Canada will be hiring approximately 32,000 
people across the country to assist with census collection.  
Furthermore, your support in encouraging your residents to 
complete the census will have a direct impact on gathering the 
data needed to plan, develop and evaluate programs and 
services such as schools, daycare, family services, housing, 
emergency services, roads, public transportation and skills 
training for employment. 

Resolution: 

Be it resolved that: 

The Town of Kentville Council supports the 2021 Census, and 
encourages all residents to complete their census 
questionnaire online at www.census.gc.ca.  Accurate and 
complete census data support programs and services that 
benefit our community. 

 

Kindest Regards  

 

 

Sandra Snow, Mayor 

Town of Kentville  

Mayor   

Sandra Snow 

354 Main Street 

Kentville, NS 

B4N 1K6

 

 

http://www.census.gc.ca/jobs
http://www.census.gc.ca/jobs


 





On 2021-01-14, 2:41 PM, "Karen Adamson" <Adamson.karen@outlook.com> wrote: 
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when opening 
attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 
 
We are writing in regards to learning about a request by Stephen Healy for a special 5 events for this 
calendar year. We believe this request is to be in addition to their usual count for events and is being 
made in response to a decrease in their usual business for these events. Covid was an enormous 
disrupter to everyone’s lives and most person’s livelihoods in this last year. The Healy’s were still able to 
hold a number of events over the Summer which included multiple wreath making events this late Fall. 
Our federal government was quick to implement financial programs to help mitigate the effects of this 
ongoing pandemic. This, we feel, is the appropriate place to be applying for help if a business has the 
need. Unless our local town government is proceeding with a program to help all other local businesses 
that have been affected by a downturn in their business, we fail to understand why it should entertain 
this application. 
In addition to these observations, if granted, this would allow the Healys the ability to hold 20 events 
over the course of this next year. If these events happen to be held during our fairest weather months, 
this would have the potential for them happen over most every, if not every weekend of our normal 
Summer. This would create the usually protracted accompanying disruption to the locals’ Summer 
enjoyment for a potentially increased number of times. So We write to voice our objection to this 
request.  
 
Karen and Mike Adamson 
Sent from my iPad 

 

mailto:Adamson.karen@outlook.com


 

Attorney General 
Justice 

      Office of the Minister 
 

 

PO Box 7, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada B3J 2L6 • Telephone 902 424-4044 Fax 902 424-0510 • novascotia.ca 
 

 

 

 
January 19, 2021 
 
 
Mayor Sandra Snow 
Town of Kentville 
354 Main St 
Kentville NS B4N 1K6 
 
 
Dear Mayor Snow: 
 
On December 3rd, 2019, the Government of Nova Scotia announced that the Town of Kentville will be 
prescribed as a public sector body under the Accessibility Act as of April 1st, 2020. 
 
Last spring, some public sector bodies shared concerns about capacity to meet their obligations under the 
Act, given the impact of Covid-19. I recognize the unprecedented challenges facing all Nova Scotians, and 
I committed to adjusting the timelines to ensure there is sufficient time and capacity to support the 
development of your accessibility plan. 
 
I am pleased to announce a one-year extension to the prescription deadline. This means that the Town of 
Kentville will be prescribed as a public sector body under the Act as of April 1st, 2021. The Town of Kentville 
must form an accessibility advisory committee and have an accessibility plan in place by April 1st, 2022. 
Despite this extension, I encourage you to continue progressing with your accessibility planning. 
 
The Accessibility Directorate has developed several resources to assist you in meeting your obligations 
under the Accessibility Act, including Accessibility Planning Toolkit for Prescribed Public Sector Bodies, the 
Accessibility Planning Toolkit for Municipalities, and the Interim Accessibility Guidelines for Indoor and 
Outdoor Spaces. These resources are all available online at novascotia.ca/accessibility. In addition, the 
Accessibility Directorate is developing a series of webinars, which will be available soon to further guide 
our collaborative efforts.  
 
Work is well underway across the province, as accessibility advisory committees are being established and 
the development of accessibility plans are beginning. Some prescribed bodies have formed a joint 
accessibility advisory committee and are developing a joint accessibility plan with other prescribed public 
sector bodies that share similar interests, as this is permitted under the Act.  
 
 
 
 
 



We look forward to continuing to support you in this important work. For assistance to further 
information, please contact Carla Bezanson at 902-440-5007 or Carla.bezanson@novascotia.ca.  
 
Thank you for your continued commitment to building an inclusive province for all Nova Scotians. 
 
Yours truly, 

 
Mark Furey 
 

mailto:Carla.bezanson@novascotia.ca


From: Linda Durling <lindaddurling@hotmail.com>  
Sent: Thursday, January 21, 2021 8:38 PM 
To: Jennifer West <jwest@kentville.ca> 
Subject: For Council Meeting ,Jan 25th, 2021 
 

Hi,  Please forward to Mayor Snow, Council and relevant Staff members 
 
TO: Mayor Snow and Town of Kentville Council and relevant Administration Staff 

 

FROM: Wayne and Linda Durling, 34 Deer Haven Drive, Kentville 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to send my letter to you, a follow-up to my letter submitted to the 

last council meeting, in opposition to the Special Events By-Law affecting the Healy property.  

 

This council meeting is to decide whether to allow the Healy’s a special Covid 19 extension for 

the 2021 year for 5 extra events in 2021. In 2020 they had 10 events at the property, only 5 less 

than the by-law allows for. In this Covid world, 10 events out of 15 does not seem too bad. As a 

small business they had the ability to access a small business grant offered to all small 

businesses. Their business brought in income during the 2020 year. In 2021 they will have the 

ability to hold 15 events and by allowing an extra 5 events that means, we as a quiet residential 

community, will have during each week for 5 (five) months, disrupting activity in our area – 

traffic and noise disturbing our quiet, peaceful surroundings. 

 

You have our letter submitted to the last council meeting, sent in opposition to the Healy’s 

request for an additional 5 activities per year, annually, and which said request was defeated. All 

of our comments made at that time are still relevant. 

 

Thank you, Linda and Wayne 

 
 


	000 January 2021 Council Agenda.pdf (p.1-2)
	3.a DRAFT November 2021 Council Minutes.pdf (p.3-9)
	3.b DRAFT December 14 2021 Special Council Minutes.pdf (p.10-11)
	3.c DRAFT December 22 2021 Special Council Minutes.pdf (p.12-13)
	3.d DRAFT January 11 Special Council Minutes.pdf (p.14-15)
	4.a Special Events Covid 19 Bylaw - Jan 2021.pdf (p.16-23)
	4.b Valley Waste Bylaw 2nd Reading FULL- Jan 2021.pdf (p.24-61)
	5.a.1 Withdrawal of Funds from Capital Equipment Reserve.pdf (p.62-64)
	5.a.2 Withdrawal of Funds from the Town Capital Reserve.pdf (p.65-68)
	5.a.3 Regional Climate Action Plan.pdf (p.69-74)
	5.a.4 Noise Bylaw Revision.pdf (p.75-87)
	5.a.5 Long Service Awards Policy.pdf (p.88-92)
	5.a.6 MELG Recommendations to Province.pdf (p.93-104)
	5.a.7 Catalyst Consulting Request.pdf (p.105-127)
	5.a.8 Intermunicipal Service Agreements.pdf (p.128-134)
	5.a.9 Kentville Historical Society Lease.pdf (p.135)
	5.b.1 Councillor Gerrard Report - Jan 2021.pdf (p.136-138)
	5.b.2 Councillor Huntley Report - Jan 2021.pdf (p.139-142)
	5.b.3 Councillor Maxwell Report - Jan 2021.pdf (p.143-144)
	5.b.4 Deputy Mayor Savage Report - Jan 2021.pdf (p.145-147)
	5.b.5 Councillor Yorke Report - Jan 2021.pdf (p.148-149)
	5.b.6 Councillor Zebian Report - Jan 2021.pdf (p.150-151)
	5.c Mayor Snow Report - Jan 2021.pdf (p.152-165)
	6.a AT Project Update - Jan 2021.pdf (p.166-171)
	6.b Investment Policy G26- Jan 2021.pdf (p.172-186)
	6.c Resolution - African Heritage Month - Jan 2021.pdf (p.187-188)
	6.d Resolution - Census - Jan 2021.pdf (p.189)
	6.e Welcome to CAO - Jan 2021.pdf (p.190)
	7.a Correspondence - Healy Property - Jan 2021.pdf (p.191)
	7.b Correspondence - Healy Property - Jan 2021.pdf (p.192)
	7.c Correspondence - Accessiblity Plan - Jan 2021.pdf (p.193-194)
	7.d Correspondence - Healy Property - Jan 2021.pdf (p.195)

	Text1: Cathy Maxwell
	Text2: Jan 24/21
	Text3: Nov 30/20
	Text4: Jan 11/21
	Text5: Dec 9/20
	Text6: Annapolis Valley Trails 
	Text7: See Attached report
	Text8: Dec 10/20
	Text9: Joint Council Zoom meeting REMC/NS EMO
	Text10: Local municipal governments attended this zoom meeting to look at the roles and responsibilities of our REMC and NS EMO
	Text11: Dec 14/20
	Text12: Council Advisory Meeting
	Text13: 
	Text14: Dec 16th
	Text15: Joint Council Meeting
	Text16: Zoom meeting with local Governments to review our shared services agreements.
	Text17: 
	Text18: 
	Text19: 
	Text20: 
	Text21: 
	Text22: 
	Text23: Dec 11/20
	Text24: Tutorial on how to access documents for our Zoom meetings .
	Text25: 
	Text26: 
	Text27: 
	Text28: 
	Text29: AVTC 
	Text30: Dec 9/20
	Text31: The work plans for '21-'22 were reviewed. rick was designated our accessibility director. The Western Loop has been approved, some discussion on the Vision New Minas Plan and the role the HMT has in this. The Friends of The Ravine did a presentation and indicated their vision is to have this trail become part of the HMT and they were also presenting to New Minas on this area to raise awareness.
	Text32: Coalition Finances are doing well so far
	Text33: lots of projects are being looked at to have access to schools, business areas etc. using the HMT as part of the Active Transportation and Accessibility.
	Text34: none
	Text35: 
	Text36: 
	Text37: 
	Text38: 


